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OUR MISSION
Our core business is genomics.
Our passion is to extract meaning from genetic data.
Our mission is to help accelerate scientific discoveries.

OUR VISION
Our vision is to realise the enormous potential within the evolving 
space of genomics for the benefit of mankind.

COVER RATIONALE

Advancements in healthcare knowledge and technology over the past decade are empowering us to take a more proactive 
role in managing our health. We now have a better opportunity to live long and quality lives.

In the past, we would wait until an illness happens before we seek treatment. With the availability of modern clinical 
pathology tests, we can get detailed information about various aspects of our current health to give us the chance to seek 
immediate treatment before illness strikes.

When pathology tests are combined with genetic screening tests, we can get a much more complete understanding of 
our current as well as future health, because we can now find out our risk for inherited diseases even before the illness 
develops. This personalised approach to healthcare enables us to make lifestyle changes or seek preventive healthcare, 
and to continue our journey towards better health because ‘life matters’.  



CONTENTS

4 CORPORATE INFORMATION
6 CORPORATE DIRECTORY
7 CORPORATE STRUCTURE
8 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
10 PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
16 PROFILE OF CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
17 BOARD COMMITTEES

18 PERFORMANCE REVIEW
20 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

26 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
28 STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
40 OTHER COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
41 STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
44 AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
48 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

50 CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
52 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

54 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
114 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

116 OTHER INFORMATION
118 LIST OF MATERIAL PROPERTIES
119 ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
124 NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FORM OF PROXY



CORPORATE 
INFORMATION
6 CORPORATE DIRECTORY
7 CORPORATE STRUCTURE
8 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
10 PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
16 PROFILE OF CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
17 BOARD COMMITTEES





BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim
Senior Independent Non-Executive Chairman
 
Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus
Managing Director

Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid
Executive Director

CORPORATE 
DIRECTORY

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Chua Siew Chuan  (MAICSA 0777689)
Mak Chooi Peng  (MAICSA 7017931)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 7, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela
Pusat Bandar Damansara 
Damansara Heights
50490 Kuala Lumpur 
Tel  : +603 2084 9000 
Fax : +603 2094 9940

MANAGEMENT OFFICE
27-9, Level 9
Signature Office
Bandar Mid Valley
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel  : +603 2283 3860
Fax : +603 2282 8102

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
Crowe Horwath (AF 1018)
Chartered Accountants
Level 16, Tower C
Megan Avenue II
12, Jalan Yap Kwan Seng
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Tel  : +603 2788 9999
Fax : +603 2788 9998

INTERNAL AUDITOR
Axcelasia Columbus Sdn Bhd
1-23-7, Menara Bangkok Bank
Berjaya Central Park
No. 105, Jalan Ampang
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : +603 2181 8865
Fax : +603 2181 8867

SHARE REGISTRAR
Securities Services (Holdings) Sdn Bhd (36869-T)
Level 7, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela
Pusat Bandar Damansara 
Damansara Heights
50490 Kuala Lumpur 
Tel  : +603 2084 9000 
Fax : +603 2094 9940 

PRINCIPAL BANKER
RHB Bank Berhad

WEBSITE
www.mgrc.com.my

Dato’ Dr Norraesah binti Haji Mohamad
Executive Director

Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Toh Seng Thong
Independent Non-Executive Director

6



100%

MPATH 
SDN BHD

100%

MGRC INTERNATIONAL 
SDN BHD

100%

CLINIPATH
(MALAYSIA)

SDN BHD

100%

MEDICAL
SCAN

SDN BHD

CORPORATE 
STRUCTURE

MALAYSIAN GENOMICS
RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD

100%

CLINIPATH
CAPITAL
SDN BHD

7



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Datuk Munirah binti 
Haji Abdul Hamid

Executive Director

Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali

Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

Robert George Hercus
@ Abdul Karim Hercus

Managing Director

8



Toh Seng Thong, JP

Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Datuk
(Dr) Rafiah binti Salim

Senior Independent
Non-Executive Chairman

Dato’ Dr Norraesah
binti Haji Mohamad

Executive Director

9



PROFILE OF 
DIRECTORS

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim was appointed 
to the Board of Directors of the Company on  
22 January 2010 and was re-designated to Senior 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company 
on 10 October 2011. She was last re-elected as a director 
on 21 December 2016. She is also the Chairman of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and a member 
of the Audit Committee.

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah graduated with a Bachelor of 
Laws and Master of Laws from Queen’s University of 
Belfast. She obtained her Certificate of Legal Practice in 
1987 and was duly admitted as an Advocate & Solicitor 
of the High Court of Malaya in 1988. Subsequently, she 
received her Honorary Doctorate from Queen’s University 
of Belfast in 2005.  

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah started her career as a lecturer 
at the Faculty of Law, University Malaya in 1974. In 1988, 
she ended her service with the University as the Dean 
of the Faculty. She then moved on to become the Head 
of the Legal Department of Malayan Banking Berhad 
(“Maybank”).

In 1991, she was promoted to the post of General Manager 
of the Human Resource Department at Maybank. She 
was then invited to serve in Bank Negara Malaysia as the 
Assistant Governor for the Security Department, Legal 
Department and Property and Service Department. 

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah’s international experience 
includes holding the position of Assistant Secretary General 
for Human Resource Management, United Nations, New 
York, from 1997 to 2002, and was the first Malaysian to be 
appointed to such a high-ranking post in the UN system. 
From 2003 to 2006, she was the Executive Director of the 
International Centre for Leadership in Finance, now known 
as The ICLIF Leadership And Governance Centre. In 
2006, she was appointed to the position of Vice-Chancellor 
/ President of University Malaya. 

She is currently also an Independent Non-Executive 
Director and a member of the Audit Committee and the 
Compensation Committee of Nestle (Malaysia) Berhad. In 
addition, Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah is also an Independent 
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit 
Committee and the Risk Committee of Allianz Malaysia 
Berhad. She is also an Independent Non-Executive 
Director and member of the Audit Committee of Lotte 
Chemical Titan Holding Berhad. 

Other than as disclosed, Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah is not 
a director of any other public company. She does not 
have any family relationship with any of the directors or 
major shareholders of the Company and has no conflict of 
interest with the Company. She has not been convicted of 
any offences within the last 5 years. 

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr)  
Rafiah binti Salim 

Senior Independent Non-Executive Chairman
70, Malaysian, Female
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Mr Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 
was first appointed to the Board of Directors of the 
Company on 18 May 2004. He was then appointed 

as the Managing Director on 15 July 2004. He was last re-
elected as a director on 10 December 2013.

Mr Hercus provides overall leadership and management 
for technology development, business enhancement, 
corporate image, organisational growth and the financial 
health of the Company. He also maintains an effective 
working relationship with the Board of Directors to develop 
policies and plans consistent with the shareholders’ 
mandate, and provides consultative advice on all aspects 
of the Company’s operations.

Mr Hercus earned his BSc (Hons) in Information Science 
from Monash University. He has over 40 years’ experience in 
Information Science, specialising in large-scale computing 
infrastructure and computationally intensive projects. He 
started his career as a Scientific Officer at the Weapons 
Research Establishment in Adelaide, Australia. He moved 
to Malaysia in 1972 to set up the Computer Science course 
structure at the MARA Institute of Technology and served 
as a lecturer for more than 4 years. Subsequently, he 
became an IT consultant to the Sabah State Government, 
coordinating the development of software applications in 
multiple areas including Personnel, Accounting, Timber 
Revenue and other areas. 

In 1977, Mr Hercus established his first software house, 
specialising in the development of applications for 
Government agencies and private companies. From 
the late 80s to the mid-90s, he was responsible for the 
complete establishment and implementation of the IT 
infrastructure and applications for Projek Lebuhraya Utara 
Selatan Sdn Bhd (PLUS). He was further involved in setting 
up two pioneering Malaysian companies under PLUS for 
the development of automatic toll collection systems and 
the ‘Touch ‘n Go’ system. During the same period, he also 
acted as an Advisor to PUTRA on the establishment of its 
IT infrastructure to support LRT operations. 

In 2002, Mr Hercus established Neuramatix Sdn Bhd, 
focusing on the creation of intelligent applications and 
devices in various domains including bioinformatics, 
machine translation, robotic movement, robotic speech, 
semantic technology and other areas. 

Mr Hercus is not a director of any other public company. 
He is the spouse of Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid, 
a director of the Company. He is a director of Synamatix 
Sdn Bhd and Neuramatix Sdn Bhd, both of which are 
substantial shareholders of the Company. 

Other than as disclosed, Mr Hercus does not have any 
family relationship with any of the directors or major 
shareholders of the Company and has no conflict of 
interest with the Company. He has not been convicted of 
any offences within the last 5 years. 

Robert George Hercus  
@ Abdul Karim Hercus

Managing Director
69, Australian, Male
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Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid was first 
appointed to the Board of Directors of the Company 
on 18 May 2004. She was then appointed as an 

Executive Director on 15 May 2007. She was last re-
elected as a director on 10 December 2014.

As one of the founders of the Neuramatix Group of 
Companies, Datuk Munirah is instrumental in driving the 
strategic operations of the Group. In MGRC, besides 
contributing significantly towards the company’s continuing 
growth and expansion into new markets, Datuk Munirah 
is responsible for overall administrative functions. Datuk 
Munirah earned her LLB (Hons) from the University of 
London. She has over 40 years’ experience in running 
various businesses.

In addition, Datuk Munirah is a committed and passionate 
social worker who has contributed significantly to society 
for more than 40 years, especially for the betterment of 
women and children in education. Working together with 
her childhood friends and other volunteers, she is the main 
coordinator of a soup kitchen project, tirelessly going out 
4 nights a week to feed and provide basic medical service 
to Kuala Lumpur’s homeless and hardcore poor. She 
believes in working closely with government agencies and 
other non-governmental organisations (NGOs) towards 
better solutions for the problems faced by the urban poor.
 

Datuk Munirah binti 
Haji Abdul Hamid 

Executive Director
67, Malaysian, Female

Datuk Munirah is not a director of any other public company. 
She is the spouse of Robert George Hercus @ Abdul 
Karim Hercus, the Managing Director of the Company. 
She is also the Managing Director of Synamatix Sdn Bhd 
and Neuramatix Sdn Bhd, both of which are substantial 
shareholders of the Company. 

Other than as disclosed, Datuk Munirah does not have 
any family relationship with any of the directors or major 
shareholders of the Company and has no conflict of 
interest with the Company. She has not been convicted of 
any offences within the last 5 years. 

12



Dato’ Dr Norraesah binti Haji Mohamad was appointed 
to the Board of Directors of the Company on 22 
January 2010. She was last re-elected as a director 

on 10 December 2015.

Dato’ Dr Norraesah obtained a BA (Hons) in Economics 
from University of Malaya in 1972, a Diploma in Commercial 
Policy from GATT, Geneva, Switzerland, and a double 
Masters degree (one in International Economics Relations 
from the International Institute of Public Administration, 
and the other in International Economics and Finance from 
the University of Paris 1, Pantheon-Sorbonne, France). 
She then obtained a PhD in Economics and Finance from 
the University of Paris 1, Pantheon-Sorbonne, France.

She has over 44 years of working experience in the 
government, corporate and business sectors, having 
served the Government of Malaysia, Credit Lyonnais 
and Bank Kerjasama Rakyat as well as Esso Malaysia 
and Alcatel Malaysia. She is a member of the World 
Islamic Economic Forum (WIEF) Board of Trustees, sits 
as a member of its International Advisory Panel, and is 
Chairman of the WIEF Businesswomen Network. 

Currently, Dato’ Dr Norraesah is the Executive Chairman 
of MyEG Services Berhad and Excel Force MSC Berhad, 
and also holds directorships in Adventa Berhad and Pecca 
Group Berhad.

Dato’ Dr Norraesah’s role in the Company includes 
participating in strategic planning and discussions for the 
purpose of identifying new prospects and opportunities, 
as well as providing assistance pertaining to government 
relations and securing of commercial projects.

Other than as disclosed, Dato’ Dr Norraesah is not a 
director of any other public company. She does not have 
any family relationship with any of the directors or major 
shareholders of the Company and has no conflict of 
interest with the Company. She has not been convicted of 
any offences within the last 5 years. 

Dato’ Dr Norraesah 
binti Haji Mohamad

Executive Director
69, Malaysian, Female
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Encik Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali was appointed to the Board 
of the Company on 12 January 2005. He was last re-
elected as a director on 10 December 2014. He is a 

member of the Audit Committee as well as the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee.

Encik Ahmad Fauzi earned his BSc (Hons) in Computation 
from the University of Manchester, Institute of Science 
and Technology, United Kingdom. He has over 30 years 
of experience as a technology entrepreneur, management 
consultant and systems integrator in the IT industry, and has 
spent over 10 years as a venture capital partner. Starting 
out as a Management Consultant at Arthur Andersen & Co, 
he founded Sapura Advanced Systems Sdn Bhd (“SAS”) in 
1990. In 1999, he founded First Floor Capital Sdn Bhd, of 
which he was a partner until 2007. 

Encik Ahmad Fauzi is currently also a director of 
Synamatix Sdn Bhd, which is a substantial shareholder of 
the Company.

Other than as disclosed, Encik Ahmad Fauzi is not a 
director of any other public company. He does not have 
any family relationship with any of the directors or major 
shareholders of the Company and has no conflict of 
interest with the Company. He has not been convicted of 
any offences within the last 5 years. 

Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali  
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

58, Malaysian, Male
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Mr Toh Seng Thong was appointed to the Board of 
the Company on 25 January 2013. He was last re-
elected as a director on 10 December 2015. He is 

the Chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) 
degree from the University of Canterbury, New Zealand, 
in 1981. He is a Chartered Accountant by profession 
and a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, 
Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Institute 
of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, a 
Fellow member of the Chartered Tax Institute of Malaysia 
and an Associate member of the Harvard Business School 
Alumni Club of Malaysia. 

Mr Toh has over 26 years’ experience in auditing, taxation 
and corporate advisory and financial advisory as a 
practicing Chartered Accountant of Malaysia. He started 
his own practice under Messrs S T Toh & Co in 1997.  

Currently, Mr Toh also sits on the Board of Latitude Tree 
Holdings Berhad and Adventa Berhad. 

Other than as disclosed, Mr Toh is not a director of any 
other public company. He does not have any family 
relationship with any of the directors or major shareholders 
of the Company and has no conflict of interest with the 
Company. He has not been convicted of any offences 
within the last 5 years.

Toh Seng Thong, JP
Independent Non-Executive Director

59, Malaysian, Male

15



PROFILE OF CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER

Sasha Omar Firdaus bin Aamir Nordin
Chief Operating Officer
43, Malaysian, Male
 
Encik Sasha Nordin was appointed Chief Operating Officer of the Company on 1 February 2014.

Prior to joining the Company, he was employed at Neuramatix Sdn Bhd, the ultimate holding company of Malaysian 
Genomics Resource Centre Berhad (“MGRC”), for a period of 12 years. In 2016, he was awarded a Masters in Business 
Administration with Distinction from the University of Strathclyde, Glasgow. 

Encik Sasha has over 19 years’ experience in business development, project planning and management, product 
development, and strategic marketing. He contributes to the growth needs of the Company and its pathology interest, 
Clinipath (M) Sdn Bhd (“Clinipath”). This has included the sourcing of grant and public funds for R&D, maintaining 
communications with strategic stakeholders, and contributing to strategic planning. 

At MGRC and Clinipath, he is responsible for the following activities:

Leadership and Performance Management
• Strategic marketing
• Setting performance goals for growth
• Assisting MGRC’s Managing Director in fundraising activities

Business Planning and Service Delivery
• Designing and implementing business strategies, plans and processes
• Overseeing the operations of the company’s product innovation, and marketing and sales teams 

Communications and Relationships
• Participating in investor relations activities
• Managing relationships with key vendors and customers

Encik Sasha is not a director of any other public company. He does not have any family relationship with any of the directors 
or major shareholders of the Company and has no conflict of interest with the Company. He has not been convicted of any 
offences within the last 5 years.  
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Name Designation Directorship

Toh Seng Thong Chairman Independent Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim Member Senior Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali Member Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Name Designation Directorship

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim Chairman Senior Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Toh Seng Thong Member Independent Non-Executive Director

Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali Member Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Profiles of the members of the Board Committees are available in this Annual Report.

BOARD 
COMMITTEES
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors and Management, it is a pleasure to present the annual report of Malaysian Genomics 
Resource Centre Berhad (‘MGRC’ or ‘the Company’) for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. 

This combined Letter to Shareholders, including the Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) section, will provide 
shareholders with a better insight into the Company’s financial position, operations, services, objectives and strategies.  

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
With the recent 100 percent acquisition of MPath Sdn Bhd (‘MPath’) and its subsidiaries by MGRC in June 2017,  
Clinipath (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (‘Clinipath’)’s revenue is consolidated into the group’s financial results from the date of 
acquisition. Clinipath’s clinical pathology services will provide MGRC with a recurring revenue instead of its traditional 
project-based revenue which is variable in nature. For the period starting from 9 June 2017 (date of acquisition) to 30 
June 2017, Clinipath contributed a total revenue of RM1.3 million to MGRC. In addition to this, MGRC recorded a gain 
on remeasurement of the equity interest, previously held as a joint venture amounting to RM1.5 million pursuant to this 
transaction.

Despite this, a decrease in revenue from our project-based genome sequencing and analysis (GSA) services resulted in a 
5 percent reduction of revenue from RM10.4 million in the previous year to RM9.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2017. 
As a result of this, profit after tax decreased from RM1.7 million to approximately RM589,000.

Group Group Group Group Group
Financial year ended 30.6.2013 30.6.2014 30.6.2015 30.6.2016 30.6.2017

(RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000)

Results
  Revenue 536  4,411  13,898  10,434  9,873 
  Profit/(Loss), net of tax  (9,003)  (4,302)  3,623  1,739  589 

Equity and Liabilities
  Total equity  20,013  14,251  17,652  19,392  24,305 
  Total liabilities  1,116  1,078  4,065  2,075  13,494 

  Total equity and liabilities  21,129  15,329  21,717  21,467  37,799 

Assets
  Property, plant and equipment  2,843  1,000  659  527  13,242 
  Intangible assets  3,615  3,004  2,393  1,782  9,825
  Other non current assets  -    -    -    -    268 
  Current assets  6,848  4,165  8,617  9,255  14,464 
  Investment in joint venture  7,823  7,160  10,048  9,903  -   

  Total assets  21,129  15,329  21,717  21,467  37,799 

Financial Indicator:
  Return on shareholders’ equity (%) (45) (30) 21 9 2

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS
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REVENUE

RM9.9
million

RM37.8
million

2.4
percent

TOTAL ASSETS

RETURN ON SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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RM9.8
million

RM13.2
million

RM0.9
million

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (cont’d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
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GROUP’S BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND SERVICES
MGRC’s core business lies in providing GSA services, and also genetic screening services (GSS). Through the full 
acquisition of MPath in June 2017, the group’s business portfolio now also includes a comprehensive range of clinical 
pathology services, which will become the prime business focus of MGRC, moving forward.  

Genome Sequencing and Analysis (GSA) 
MGRC was incorporated in 2004, soon after the completion of the Human Genome Project (HGP) in 2003. The HGP was a 
ground-breaking scientific project to determine the human DNA sequence and identify the biological function of genes. This 
project made it possible for researchers throughout the world to start studying the genetic origins of diseases.  

With an early head start, MGRC established itself as the first company in the region to offer GSA services to local and 
international customers from its office and laboratory in Mid Valley, Kuala Lumpur. MGRC’s customers have included research 
organisations, universities, corporations and hospitals in the healthcare, pharmaceutical, aquaculture, environmental 
conservation and industrial biotechnology industries.  

GSA services involve the sequencing and / or analysis of the DNA of humans, animals, plants and microbes, to discover 
meaningful biological information. Some of the services provided under GSA include the following: 

• Genomics-assisted breeding programmes for agriculture and aquaculture
• Clinical research and development
• Microbial and environmental studies
• Conservation and diversity studies 

Genetic Screening Services (GSS) 
In 2011, MGRC ventured into GSS by developing its own range of genetic screening tests under the brand Dtect®. 

Dtect tests screen human DNA for genetic markers related to a range of diseases and health conditions. The product range 
includes:

• Dtect Child for childhood developmental disorders
• Dtect Onco for risks of commonly occurring cancers
• Dtect Fertility for genetic causes of fertility problems
• Dtect PGx for risks of adverse reactions to prescription drugs
• Dtect Cardio & Metabolic for risks of cardiovascular diseases and metabolic disorders
• Dtect Wellness for genetic traits and conditions affecting nutrition, fitness and injury risks

Genetic screening is especially important for those with a family history of health problems, as such risks are often passed 
down from generation to generation. With an understanding of an individual’s genetic profile, doctors can recommend 
lifestyle, dietary or other specific interventions to their patients. By intervening early, doctors have a better chance to 
prevent the disease from occurring.

Currently, Dtect tests are available to the public via clinics, hospitals, medical centres, wellness centres and healthcare-
related companies in East and West Malaysia. Dtect is steadily gaining a foothold in the ASEAN region through strategic 
partnerships with reputable healthcare and wellness service providers outside of Malaysia.     

Clinical Pathology
In 2012, MGRC entered the clinical pathology business indirectly through a 50 percent stake in MPath, which owns Clinipath. 
Seeing the potential in the clinical pathology market, MGRC recently acquired 100 percent ownership of MPath, resulting 
in full control of Clinipath’s entire business operations.   

Clinipath has a 20-year presence in Malaysia and it is currently the fourth largest independent chain of pathology laboratories 
in the country. It offers a complete range of over 1300 medical diagnostic and genetic screening tests in the areas of 
immunology, microbiology, histopathology, haematology, cytology and biochemistry. Doctors use these tests to diagnose 
and treat disease, and monitor their patients’ health. Clinipath has been MS ISO 15189 certified since 2010. The laboratory 
also participates in various international quality assurance programs.

With its headquarters and core laboratory in Klang, Selangor, and 16 other branches throughout East and West Malaysia, 
Clinipath serves general practitioners and specialists in private and public hospitals, medical centres and other private 
laboratories. Clinipath also works closely with corporate entities on special projects.   
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BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

Genome Sequencing and Analysis (GSA) 
MGRC is gradually shifting its focus from GSA, which predominately generated revenue from agriculture-related projects, 
to the healthcare sector via its GSS and clinical pathology businesses. This is an important change in strategy from 
previous years where GSA contributed a larger share of MGRC’s revenue. As the genomics industry has evolved, the focus 
has moved downstream from using GSA-type services for basic research to using such services for applied research and 
development of products to mitigate problems specific to an industry or company.  

The slowdown in our GSA segment is also partly due to the general economic climate affecting Malaysia and recent 
cutbacks in public funding, such as R&D grants, allocated to educational institutions and organisations. This has led to a 
notable reduction in the number of GSA project opportunities available.

MGRC is addressing this risk by reallocating its resources to its GSS and clinical pathology businesses, which provide 
regular, recurring revenue for long-term stability and profitability. However, MGRC will still have the capability to undertake 
GSA projects, should such opportunities arise in the future. 

Genetic Screening Services (GSS)
According to the 2017 ‘Global Genetic Testing Market Analysis & Trends - Industry Forecast to 2025 ’ report by Research 
and Markets, genetic screening is projected to have a global market size of RM10.3 billion by 2025, with a compound 
annual growth rate (CAGR) of around 10.4 percent. This positive forecast highlights the attractiveness of the genetic 
screening market segment. With our focus shifting away from GSA, increasing efforts will be put into expanding our GSS 
customer base in the local and international markets.

MGRC is pursuing multiple partnerships in order to expand and diversify its customer base, and extend its market reach 
to more countries. Through partners, MGRC’s genetic screening tests have an increasing presence in the ASEAN region. 

There is also the continued need for MGRC to educate and build awareness on the importance and utility of genetic 
screening both locally and internationally as it is still considered new and very much a luxury among the wider public. We 
have increased our efforts to help our existing distribution partners understand genetic screening better so that they will be 
able to confidently promote Dtect tests among their customers and expand their current market. 

Our marketing efforts include providing training sessions for our partners, who consist of dieticians, doctors and marketing 
professionals, in order to equip them with the necessary knowledge to advise and attend to their customers. We also 
participate in joint events with our partners and present the benefits of genetic screening to the wider public. Partners are 
also supplied with marketing collaterals which include brochures, buntings and sample reports. We understand that by 
providing consistent support to our partners, we are enhancing the value of the Dtect brand.

MGRC has also expanded and diversified the range of Dtect tests by entering into the fertility market with the introduction of 
a new genetic screening test for personalising fertility treatments. This test can help specialists at fertility centres to identify 
the right treatment protocol for IVF patients, and it is also to screen for a patient’s genetic risk for infertility. This is a unique 
test which is currently not offered by any other company in Malaysia. 

Clinical Pathology 
In 2014, Malaysia’s private pathology industry generated an estimated RM700 million. The industry grows at approximately 
10 percent each year. Its expansion is attributed to the increasing incidence of chronic diseases in Malaysia, the rise in 
healthcare spending in the private sector and the increase in medical insurance coverage among the working population. 

Seeing the potential of the Malaysian pathology industry, MGRC, with the approval of its shareholders, increased its stake 
in Clinipath from 50 percent to 100 percent in June 2017 via MPath. The purchase cost of RM11.5 million was funded by 
both bank loans and reserves. This acquisition is part of the long-term plan to eventually migrate MGRC from the ACE 
market to Bursa’s main market.  

With the acquisition of Clinipath, MGRC is fully committed to using its genomics and genetics expertise to enhance clinical 
pathology services in Malaysia. Doctors use these services to diagnose and treat disease, and to monitor their patients’ 
health. While pathology testing has traditionally been used to measure the presence and advancement of disease, it is also 
becoming important in preventive health management, including preventing chronic diseases. 

With MGRC at the helm, Clinipath is now the only pathology laboratory in Malaysia which is equipped to support both 
precision and personalised medicine through the synergy of genetics and clinical pathology. The application of genetics 
and pathology can help to modernise the pathology industry and enable doctors to offer personalised medicine which can 
lead to better health for patients. 
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CONCLUSION
MGRC will continue to work hard to maintain its position as one of the region’s leading genetic and genomics healthcare 
companies. Through our efforts to integrate MGRC and Clinipath, we look forward to an exciting and positive year ahead 
as we find new ways to bring genetic screening and pathology services together. 

We believe that the healthcare market is not just about people who are ill. It is also about people who are healthy and 
who want to maintain their health. We know that genetic testing can play important and significant roles in both market 
segments. Our focus now is to equip our customers with the right tests, the right information on how to use them, and the 
right support in terms of how to use test results to improve patient lives.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board of Directors, we would like to express our deepest appreciation to shareholders for their continued 
trust and support for MGRC. Our gratitude also goes to the management and staff for their hard work and dedication. 

In addition, we would also like to thank our partners and customers for their enduring support for our company and services. 

Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus
Managing Director
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
INTRODUCTION
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Malaysian Genomics Resource Centre Berhad (“MGRC” or “the Company”) 
acknowledges good corporate governance as a priority focus area in conducting the affairs of the Company. The Board is 
responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. 

The Board is committed to ensuring that a sound framework of best practices of good corporate governance as prescribed 
in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012 (“the Code”) is generally implemented and in place at all levels of 
the Group’s businesses to protect and enhance long-term shareholder value and stakeholders interests. This statement 
complies with Rule 15.25 of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) 
(“ACE LR”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

I. Board Composition

 The Board consists of six (6) members, of which, three (3) are Executive Directors, one (1) is a Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director and two (2) are Independent Non-Executive Directors, thus fulfilling the ACE LR requirement 
which stipulates that at least one-third of the Board should comprise Independent Directors. 

 The Board is of the opinion that its composition reflects a balance of Executive and Non-Executive Directors, such 
that the interests of not only the Company, but also of its stakeholders and the general public are upheld in the 
formulation and adoption of business strategies. Collectively, the Directors combine their diverse commercial, 
regulatory, industry and financial experience to add value to the Board as a whole. There is also a clear division of 
responsibilities between the Chairperson and the Managing Director to ensure that the Board remains balanced at 
all times.

 The profiles of the members of the Board are set out in the relevant section of this Annual Report. 

II. Duties and Responsibilities of the Board 

 The Board is responsible for, amongst other matters, establishing and communicating the strategic direction and 
corporate values of the Company, as well as supervising its affairs to strive for success within a framework of 
acceptable risks and effective controls in compliance with the relevant laws, regulations, guidelines and directives in 
the territories in which it operates. 

 The Board reviews management performance and ensures that the necessary financial and human resources are 
available to meet the objectives of the Company. 

 The duties and responsibilities of the Board include determining the Company’s overall strategic plans, performing 
periodic reviews of business and financial performance and engaging in succession planning as well as adopting 
practical risk management and internal controls to implement a strong framework of internal controls for the Company.  

 Further to this, the Board has delegated specific responsibilities to various Board Committees in order to assist 
the Board in the running of the Company. The functions and terms of reference of the Board Committees have 
been clearly defined. There are two (2) Board Committees, namely, the Audit Committee and, the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. These Committees deliberate on and discuss issues within their terms of reference, and 
report their recommendations to the Board. However, the ultimate responsibility for decision-making remains vested 
in the Board.

 The role and responsibility of the Managing Director is distinct, separate and clearly defined. The Managing Director, 
assisted by the Directors, has overall responsibility in working towards achieving strategic goals and objectives for 
the Company together with the implementation of the Company’s policies, corporate strategies and decisions.
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 All Board members participate fully in decisions on key issues involving the Company. The Executive Directors 
are responsible for implementing the policies and decisions of the Board and managing the Company’s day-to-day 
operations. Together with the Independent Non-Executive Directors, they ensure that strategies are fully discussed 
and examined, taking into account the long-term interests of the various stakeholders including shareholders, 
employees, customers, suppliers and the community.

 The Non-Executive Directors play an important role in providing unbiased and independent judgement to ensure a 
balance and impartial Board decision-making process. The Board has designated Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti 
Salim, who is also the Chairperson of the Board, as the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to whom any 
concerns may be conveyed.

III. Code of Conduct

 The Board recognises the need to formalise and commit to ethical values through a Code of Conduct, and the 
implementation of appropriate internal systems to support, promote and ensure compliance. The Board has also 
established a Code of Conduct, which has been uploaded to the Company’s website.

 The Code of Conduct sets out basic principles to guide all the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, on the 
appropriate standards of conduct and ethical behaviour for Directors. It covers the following areas:

• Compliance with laws, rules and regulations
• Corporate governance
• Conduct of business and fair dealing
• Conflicts of interest
• Use of non-public information and disclosure (insider trading)
• Use of company funds, assets and information 
• Social responsibility and the environment
• Proper records and communication
• Spokesman
• Whistleblowing
• Breaches, waiver and review

IV. Board Meetings

 The Board is scheduled to meet four (4) times a year at quarterly intervals, with additional meetings to be convened 
when urgent and important decisions are required to be made between the scheduled meetings. The meeting 
agenda for these meetings includes the review of quarterly financial results and announcements, business directions, 
business plans and budgets, macro strategies and discussions on other major matters such as acquisitions, 
investments and disposals.

 Proceedings of, and resolutions passed at each Board Meeting are documented in the minutes and signed by the 
Chairperson at the subsequent Board Meeting. In addition to Board Meetings, the Board exercises control over 
matters that require Board approval through the circulation of Directors’ Resolutions. These minutes and resolutions 
are kept at the registered office of the Company.

 During the financial year under review, five (5) Board Meetings were held and the attendance of the Directors was 
as follows:

Directors No. of Meetings Attended

Mr Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 5/5

Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 5/5

En Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali 5/5

Dato’ Dr Norraesah binti Mohamad 5/5

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim 5/5

Mr Toh Seng Thong 5/5
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V. Supply of Information 

 The agenda for the Board Meetings together with appropriate reports and information on the Company’s business 
operations, in addition to proposal papers for the Board’s consideration, are circulated to all the Directors prior to 
the meetings in a timely manner to enable the Directors to review the material and obtain additional information or 
clarification prior to the meeting.

 At least one (1) week before the meeting, the Directors receive notice of the agenda together with copies of the 
minutes of the previous meetings. Other board papers and draft documents are also circulated to the Board in 
advance. 

 The Directors have access to all information within the Company as well as to the advice and services of the 
company secretaries, whether as a full Board or in their individual capacities, to assist them in the decision-making 
process. Where necessary, the Directors may engage independent professionals at the Company’s expense on 
specific issues, in order to enable the Directors to discharge their duties with the benefit of all available knowledge 
and resources. 

VI. Board Charter

 The Board has formalised and established a Board Charter to govern the manner in which the Company conducts 
its affairs.

VII. Policies Governing the Board of Directors

 The Company has adopted the Policies Governing the Board of Directors (“Policy”), which incorporates a policy on 
Board composition with regard to the mix of skills, independence and diversity (including gender and ethnic diversity). 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee oversees matters relating to the nomination of new Directors, and 
annually reviews the required mix of skills and experience and conducts an independence assessment of Independent 
Directors. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee also reviews succession plans and boardroom diversity, 
oversees training courses for Directors and also conducts an annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole, its Committees and the contribution of each individual Director. 

VIII. Audit Committee

 The composition of the Audit Committee, its terms of reference and its activities during the financial year ended  
30 June 2017 are set out in the Audit Committee Report.

 The performance of the Audit Committee is assessed once a year by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

 Details of the activities carried out by the Audit Committee and its roles and responsibilities in the financial year under 
review are set out in the Audit Committee Report. 

IX. Nomination and Remuneration Committee

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises three (3) Directors, the majority of whom are Independent 
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are as 
follows:

• Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim (Chairperson, Senior Independent Non-Executive Chairperson)
• En Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali (Member, Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)
• Mr Toh Seng Thong (Member, Independent Non-Executive Director)

 The principal objectives of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are:

(a) to assist the Board in nominating new nominees to the Board of Directors;
(b)  to assess the Board in overseeing the selection of, and assessing the performance of, the Directors of the 

Company on an on-going basis;  
(c) to assist the Board in assessing the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors; and
(d) to assess the performance of the Audit Committee.
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 During the financial year under review, the activities carried out by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
included the following: 

• Reviewed and recommended to the Board, the re-election of the Directors who will be retiring at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting of the Company; 

• Reviewed the contribution and performance of the Board as a whole, and of each individual Director;
• Reviewed the contribution and performance of the Audit Committee members, and of the Audit Committee as a 

whole;
• Recommended training needs for Directors;
• Reviewed and recommended to the Board, the Directors’ Fees for the financial year ended 30 June 2017; and
• Reviewed the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors. 

X. Time Commitment

 The Board is satisfied with the level of time commitment extended by the Directors in fulfilling their roles and 
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. This is evidenced by the full attendance record of the Directors at 
Board meetings.

 Directors are expected to have the relevant expertise in order to contribute positively to the Company’s performance 
and to channel sufficient time and attention towards carrying out their responsibilities to the Company and Group. The 
Board obtains this commitment from its new members at the time of appointment. The Board has established policies 
and procedures where a Director should notify the Chairperson officially, before accepting any new Directorship from 
any other company and the notification shall set out the expectation and an indication of time commitment that will 
be spent on the new appointment. The Directors are able to devote sufficient time commitment to their roles and 
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

XI. Compliance With Applicable Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards

 In presenting the annual audited financial statements and quarterly announcements of financial results to the 
shareholders, the Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and meaningful assessment of the Group’s position 
and prospects, and ensuring that the financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 
in Malaysia. 

 The Audit Committee assists the Board in scrutinising information for disclosure to ensure accuracy, adequacy and 
completeness. 

XII. Assessment of Sustainability and Independence of External Auditors

 The Audit Committee undertakes an annual assessment of the suitability and independence of the external auditors. 
The Audit Committee meets with the external auditors at least twice a year to discuss their audit plan, audit findings 
and the Company’s financial statements. 

 At least one (1) of these meetings is held without the presence of the Executive Directors and the Management. The 
Audit Committee also meets with the external auditors additionally whenever it deems necessary. 

 In addition, the external auditors are invited to attend the Annual General Meeting of the Company and are available 
to answer shareholders’ questions on the conduct of the statutory audit and the preparation and contents of their 
audit report.

XIII. Financial Reporting

 In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to select appropriate accounting policies and to 
ensure that they are consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records which disclose with 
accuracy at any time, the financial position of the Company; thereby enabling them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible to take such steps 
as are reasonable so as to safeguard the assets of the Company against fraud and other irregularities. 

 The Statement of Directors’ Responsibility for preparing the Audited Financial Statements pursuant to Rule 15.26(a) 
of the ACE LR is set out in this Annual Report.
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XIV. Sustainability and Corporate Social Responsibility

 The Board is aware of the importance of business sustainability and has formalised a plan to promote sustainability 
in developing its corporate strategies, taking into account the impact on the environmental, social, cultural and 
governance aspects of business operations. 

 The Board also encourages management transparency by engaging in an open culture and two-way communication 
that encourages employee participation in every aspect of operational processes. The Company’s activities on 
corporate social responsibilities for the financial year under review are disclosed in this Annual Report.  

XV. Assessment of Independence

 The Board has set out policies and procedures to ensure effectiveness of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, 
including in relation to new appointments. 

 In view of the current size of the Board, the Board will assess the independence of the Independent Non-Executive 
Directors once in two (2) years, taking into account the individual Director’s ability to exercise independent judgment 
at all times, and his / her contribution to the effective functioning of the Board.

 The Independent Non-Executive Directors are not employees, and they do not participate in the day-to-day 
management or the daily business of the Company. They bring an external perspective, constructively challenge 
and help develop proposals on strategy, scrutinise the performance of Management in meetings, approve goals 
and objectives, and monitor the risk profile of the Company’s business and the reporting of monthly business 
performance.

 The Board is satisfied with the level of independence demonstrated by all the Independent Non-Executive Directors, 
and their ability to act in the best interest of the Company.

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has developed the following criteria for the assessment of initial and 
ongoing independence, based on the definition set out pursuant to the ACE LR.

 Criteria

• An Independent Director means a Director who is independent of management and free from any business or 
other relationship which could interfere with the exercise of independent judgement or the ability to act in the 
best interests of an applicant or a listed issuer. 

• An Independent Director is one (1) who:

a) is not an Executive Director of the applicant, listed issuer or any related corporation of such applicant or 
listed issuer (each corporation is referred to as “said Corporation”);

b) has not been within the last two (2) years and is not an officer (except as a Non-Executive Director) of the 
said Corporation;  

c) is not a major shareholder the said Corporation;
d) is not a family member of any Executive Director, officer or major shareholder of the said Corporation;
e) is not acting as a nominee or representative of any Executive Director or major shareholder of the said 

Corporation;
f) has not been engaged as an adviser by the said Corporation under such circumstances as prescribed 

by the Exchange or is not presently a partner, Director (except as an Independent Director) or major 
shareholder, as the case may be, of a firm or corporation which provides professional advisory services to 
the said Corporation under such circumstances as prescribed by the Exchange; or

g) has not engaged in any transaction with the said Corporation under such circumstances as prescribed by 
the Exchange or is not presently a partner, Director or major shareholder, as the case may be, of a firm or 
corporation (other than subsidiaries of the applicant or listed issuer) which has engaged in any transaction 
with the said Corporation under such circumstances as prescribed by the Exchange.

The aforesaid criteria shall be applied by the Board in the following instances: 

• admission of a new Independent Director;
• annually; and
• as and when a new interest or relationship develops. 
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 In applying the above criteria, the Board must give effect to the spirit, intention and purpose of the said definitions. If 
a person does not fall within any of paragraphs (a) to (g) of the said definition, it does not mean that the person will 
automatically qualify to be an Independent Director. The Director concerned as well as the Board of Directors of the 
applicant or listed corporation must still apply the test of whether the said Director is able to exercise independent 
judgment and act in the best interests of the applicant or listed corporation as set out in the said definition. 

 On an annual basis, each individual Director shall submit to the Board, a declaration of ongoing independence based 
on the provisions of the ACE LR.

XVI. Tenure of Independent Directors

 The Company’s board charter provides as follows:

• The tenure of an Independent Director shall not exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years. However, upon 
completion of the nine (9) years, the Independent Director may continue to serve on Board subject to his / her 
re-designation as Non-Independent Director. 

• In the event the Director was to remain designated as an Independent Director, the Board shall first justify this 
position and obtain shareholders’ approval.

• The Board shall undertake an assessment of its Independent Directors annually, looking beyond the Independent 
Director’s background, economic and family relationships and considering whether the Independent Director 
can continue to bring independent and objective judgement to board deliberations. 

 Based on the current composition of the Board, the tenure of all Independent Directors has not exceeded a cumulative 
term of nine (9) years.

XVII. Appointment to the Board

 In order to comply with best practices for the appointment of new Directors through a formal and transparent 
procedure, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, which comprises exclusively of Non-Executive 
Directors, is responsible for making recommendations relating to any new appointments to the Board. In making 
these recommendations, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee will take into account the individual’s skill, 
knowledge, expertise, experience, professionalism, integrity and level of other commitments. Any new nomination 
received is put to the full Board for assessment and approval. 

 The Board is entitled to the services of the Company Secretaries who ensure that all appointments are properly 
made, that all necessary information is obtained from Directors, both for the internal records and for the purposes of 
meeting statutory obligations, as well as obligations arising from the ACE LR or other regulatory requirements.

 The Board is supportive of gender and ethnic diversity in the boardroom as recommended by the Code. The Board 
comprises three (3) male and three (3) female Directors, representing (2) two of the major races in Malaysia. 

 The Directors observe the relevant recommendations of the Code to the effect that they are required to notify the 
Chairperson before accepting any new Directorships, and to indicate the time expected to be spent on the new 
appointments.

 As set out in the Policy, upon the existence of a casual vacancy or upon the decision of the Board to invite an 
additional Director to the Board, the existing Directors shall examine the current composition of the Board and pre-
define the desired characteristics / profile of the new Director.

 In so doing, the Board shall:

• uphold and implement best practices relating to gender diversity in the Boardroom, targeting for at least 30% of 
the Board to comprise women Directors;

• uphold and implement best practices relating to ethnic diversity, in ensuring that at least two (2) of the three (3) 
main ethnic groups in Malaysia, are represented on the Board at all times;

• consider the kinds of professional qualification, skill sets, industry experience and profile that the new Director 
should have, in order to preserve an all-rounded and balanced Board; and

• consider and discuss other pertinent or relevant factors that may arise. 
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 The existing Directors may then propose the name of any potential candidate to the Chairperson of the Board, from:

• their own personal contacts; and / or
• a registry of Directors, such as that maintained by the NAM Institute for the Empowerment of Women Malaysia 

(NIEW) at http://www.wcdregistry.com, or the Malaysian Alliance of Corporate Directors at http://www.macd.org.my.

 The Chairperson of the Board shall, within a specified timeframe, disclose the names of the potential candidates that 
have been nominated, to all Board members.

 The Board members shall then decide to whom the invitation should be issued, based on its consideration of the 
relevant factors. 

 The Chairperson of the Board or any individual Director may approach the potential candidate to gauge his / her 
interest in being appointed to the Board of the Company. 

 If the potential candidate indicates his agreement to be appointed to the Board of the Company, the Chairperson of 
the Board or any individual Director shall communicate the same to the other Directors and the Company Secretary. 

 The Company Secretary shall then prepare the necessary documentation which shall include:

• a letter of appointment addressed to the new Director setting out the terms of the appointment and the expected 
time commitment required from him / her;

• the relevant company forms; and 
• announcement templates to enable the Company to make the necessary announcements to Bursa. 

XVIII. Re-Election of Directors

 Upon the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Board, the Directors who are 
standing for re-election at the forthcoming Thirteenth Annual General Meeting (“13th AGM”) of the Company to be 
held in 2017 are as stated in the Notice of AGM.

 As set out in the Board Charter, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation. Directors shall retire from office 
at least once every three (3) years, but shall be eligible for re-election. In accordance with the Company’s Articles 
of Association, one-third (1/3) of the Directors (including a Managing Director) or if their number is not a multiple of 
three, then the number nearest to one-third, are required to retire from office at the annual general meeting in every 
subsequent year. The retiring Director may offer himself / herself for re-election.  

 Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next annual 
general meeting of the Company. He / she shall then be eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into account in 
determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at that meeting.

XIX. Performance Assessment and Remuneration 

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board, the policy framework and remuneration 
and benefits extended to the Executive Directors of the Company. The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is a 
matter to be decided by the Board as a whole, with the Directors concerned abstaining from deliberation and voting 
in respect of their remuneration.

 The aggregate remuneration paid or payable to all Directors of the Company and the corresponding bands of 
remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 is as reflected the Company’s Audited Financial Statements 
set out in this Annual Report.

 The Board has adopted a policy on the assessment of Directors’ performance and remuneration. The objective of 
the Company’s policy on Directors’ remuneration is to ensure that the level of remuneration is sufficient to attract and 
retain high-profile Directors with a wealth of industry experience. Extracts from the policy are set out below:

A. Policies Governing the Annual Assessment and Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

• Each Director undertakes a performance appraisal on himself individually, and on the Board as a whole. 

• Once completed, the appraisal forms are forwarded to the Company Secretary and the results are tabulated. 
The tabulated results are then forwarded to the Chairperson of the Board. 
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• At the point of appointment to the Board or on a yearly basis once the Director has been appointed, a 
recommendation pertaining to the Directors’ fee is made by the Senior Management of the Company, to the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

• The recommendation is made based on (i) the amount of time commitment the Director concerned channels 
towards the Company; (ii) the expertise and skills that the Director concerned brings to the Board; (iii) the 
business strategy and long-term objectives of the Company, and (iv) the number of Board Committees that the 
Director in question sits on, as well as in what capacity (i.e. Chairperson, or ordinary member). 

• The Nomination and Remuneration Committee then considers the proposed figure, against its own independent 
re-assessment of the factors listed above. 

• In the event the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is in agreement with Senior Management on 
the proposed figure, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee recommends the figure to the Board for 
approval. 

• The Chairperson of the Board will also take into consideration, the performance of the said Director as reflected 
in the individual and collective performance appraisals undertaken by the Board as a whole and each Director 
respectively. 

• Once approved by the Board, the figure is recorded, and the approval of shareholders is obtained at the next 
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company. 

• Allowable claims and allowances for Independent Directors shall include all transportation and accommodation 
costs incurred in connection with attending Board and Board committee meetings.

B. Policies Governing the Annual Assessment and Remuneration of Executive Directors

• The Executive Directors undertake a self-appraisal on an individual basis. The results are forwarded to the 
Managing Director, who reviews and comments on the same. The results and the Managing Director’s comments 
are then forwarded to the Chairperson of the Board. 

• The Managing Director also undertakes a self-appraisal. Once completed, the appraisal forms are forwarded 
to the Company Secretary and the results are tabulated. The tabulated results are then forwarded to the 
Chairperson of the Board. 

• The Chairperson of the Board then reviews the results and considers whether the current remuneration package 
of the Executive Directors (whether under a Service Contract or an Employment Contract) should be revised or 
retained at status quo.

• The remuneration package of the Executive Director concerned is then tabled for review of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee and subsequently, for the approval of the Board. At Board level, the Chairperson of 
the Board makes such observations or comments as he / she may deem fit. 

 Note: No Director shall participate in any discussion on his / her own remuneration. 

XX. Directors’ Training

 All the Directors have completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme required by Bursa Securities. 

 There continues to be an awareness of the importance and benefits of attending and participating in training and 
continuing education programmes aimed at enhancing the Directors’ knowledge, skills and level of contribution to 
the Company. 

 The Board has adopted a policy on training as below:

 The Company shall facilitate the attendance of any training programme, course or seminar by any Director, for the 
purposes of continuing education and training, via two (2) mechanisms:

 - On the Recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

• The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall periodically conduct a training needs analysis on behalf of 
the Board. 
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• In so doing, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall have regard to the results of performance 
appraisals and other relevant considerations, in assessing whether any of the Directors should undergo any 
specific type of training and if so, in what areas. 

• In the event the Nomination and Remuneration Committee wishes to recommend a particular area of training 
for a particular Director, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall communicate with the Director 
concerned.

• A suitable training programme / course / seminar for the above purposes may then be identified, either by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee or by the Director concerned. 

• The Company shall make the necessary arrangements for the Director to attend the training, including payment 
of registration fees and other matters. 

- At the Request of Any Director 

• Any Director may identify a training programme / course / seminar which he / she believes would be relevant to 
his / her continuing education and professional development, and notify the Company accordingly.

• The Company shall make the necessary arrangements for the Director to attend the training, including payment 
of registration fees and other matters.

The Directors regularly attend training and related events. During the financial year under review:

1. Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim attended the following:

Title : ‘Launch of the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance’
Organiser : Securities Commission
Date : 26 April 2017

2. Dato’ Dr Norraesah binti Haji Mohamad attended the following:

Title : WIEF Forum
Organiser : World Islamic Economic Forum (WIEF)
Date : 1 August 2016 

Title : Seminar on ‘Expectations on PLCs and Directors in Disclosure 
   and Compliance Requirements Under the Listing Requirements’
Organiser : UTUSAN 
Date : 16 August 2016

Title : WIEF Businesswomen Forum 
Organiser : World Islamic Economic Forum (WIEF)
Date : 6 November 2016 

3. Mr Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus attended the following:

Title : CME Programme on ‘HBA1C (Glycohaemoglobin) Testing’
Organiser : Abbott Laboratories (M) Sdn Bhd
Date : 16 December 2016
 
Title : CME Programme on ‘Syndrome Evaluation System’
Organiser  : Immuno Heal Personalised Medicine Pte Ltd
Date : 10 January 2017

Title  : CME Programme on ‘Cancer Biology and Lung Cancer’
Organiser : Roche Malaysia Sdn Bhd
Date : 24 May 2017
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4. Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid attended the following:

Title : International Conference on ‘Respect the Environment for a Sustainable 
   and Peaceful Future’ 
Organiser : The Pan Pacific and Southeast Asia Women’s Association (PPSEAWA)
Date : 25 August 2016

Title : ‘World Poverty Day and the International Day for the Eradication of Poverty’
Organiser : World Bank Group and United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)
Date : 8 November 2016

Title : Symposium on ‘Striking the Balance of Development Through NGOs’ 
Organiser : Persekutuan Perkumpulan Wanita Sarawak (PPWS)
Date : 3 May 2017

5. En Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali attended the following:

Title : EHI Live 2016 - ‘From Implementation to Patient Outcomes’
Organiser : Informa Life Sciences Exhibitions
Date : 1 November 2016

6. Mr Toh Seng Thong attended the following:

Title : ‘National Tax Seminar 2016’
Organiser  : Lembaga Hasil Dalam Negeri
Date : 9 November 2016

Title : ‘Companies Act 2016 – Key Insights and Implications for Directors 
   / Shareholders’
Organiser : Malaysian Institute of Accountants
Date : 20 December 2016

Title : ‘The New Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance’ 
Organiser : Malaysian Institute of Accountants
Date : 16 May 2017

All the Directors will continue to attend relevant training and education programmes and events in order to keep themselves 
abreast of the latest economic, technological, commercial and industry-related developments with a view to continuing to 
discharge their duties and responsibilities effectively.

The Board encourages its Directors to attend talks, seminars, workshops, events and conferences to enhance their skills 
and knowledge to enable them to carry out their roles effectively as Directors in discharging their responsibilities. The 
Directors are briefed by the Company Secretary on the letters and circulars issued by Bursa Securities, if any, at every 
Board Meeting.

37



MANAGEMENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
The management of the Company is vested in the Managing Director, Executive Directors and Chief Operating Officer. 

The Chief Operating Officer is a shareholder of the Company. He is not a party to any material contracts with, or material 
loans from, the Company.

All management actions are carried out subject to a set of Authority Limits of the Company. The Authority Limits set out 
the limits of Management authority in relation to the day-to-day operations and functions of the Company, by indicating the 
levels of recommendations and approvals corresponding to various action items.

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Every Director has ready and unrestricted access to the advice and the services of the Company Secretaries in ensuring 
the effective functioning of the Board. The Company Secretaries ensure that Board policies and procedures are both 
followed and reviewed regularly, and are legally responsible to ensure that each Director is made aware of and provided 
with guidance as to his / her duties, responsibilities and powers. 

The Directors are also regularly updated and advised by the Company Secretaries on new statutory and regulatory 
requirements issued by regulatory authorities, and the resulting implications thereof on the Company and Directors in terms 
of duties and responsibilities. They are also responsible for ensuring the Group’s compliance with the relevant statutory and 
regulatory requirements. 

The Board ensures that the Company Secretaries appointed have the relevant experience and skills, and act in accordance 
with the Code of Ethics for Company Secretaries.

The responsibilities carried out by the Company Secretaries include:

• Preparation and submission of return forms under the Companies Act, 2016 to the Companies Commission of Malaysia;
• Proper maintenance of statutory records;
• Transmissions / submissions of corporate announcements / replies to the Bursa Securities electronically via the LINK;
• Drafting all necessary notices, Directors’ resolutions, minutes of Directors’ meetings and shareholders’ meetings and 

relevant documents under the direction and instruction of the Board of Directors;
• Attendance of Annual General Meeting / Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders;
• Attendance of Meetings of Directors, Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee;
• Preparation of board papers for Directors’ meetings or any other meetings if required; and
• Advising the Company and / or Directors on matters pertaining to the statutory requirements prescribed under the 

various Statutes, in particular, the Companies Act, 2016, the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities and in general, 
such other matters relating to secretarial practice.

SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognises the importance of accountability to shareholders on all major developments affecting the Company. 
Information is disseminated to shareholders and investors through various channels, which include annual financial results, 
annual reports, as well as where appropriate, circulars and press releases. The Board regularly reviews the information 
disseminated to ensure that consistent and accurate information is provided to shareholders of the Company.

The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders and serves as a platform on which Directors may promote 
and encourage bilateral communications with its shareholders. The external auditors are also present in order to provide 
their professional and independent clarification on issues of concern raised by the shareholders, if any.

In line with the recommendations of the Code, the Chairperson of the general meetings will inform the shareholders of their 
right to demand a poll vote at the commencement of all future general meetings.

The Company has adopted a Corporate Disclosure Policy which sets out the standard operating procedures and guidelines 
for the Board and Management to follow in relation to dissemination of information to shareholders.
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AUDITORS 
I. Internal Control

 The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining a sound system of internal controls in the Company. This 
control provides reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud. The Board 
seeks regular assurance on the continuity and effectiveness of the internal control system through independent 
review by the internal auditors.

 The internal audit function is independent of the operations of the Group and provides reasonable assurance that the 
Group’s system of internal control and risk management is satisfactory and operating effectively. An Internal Audit 
Planning Memorandum, setting out the scope of the internal audit to be undertaken, is tabled to the Audit Committee.

 Information on the Company’s internal control and risk management system is presented in the Statement on Internal 
Control and Risk Management, in this Annual Report.

II. Relationship With Auditors

 The Company’s independent external auditors play an essential role in ensuring the reliability of the Company’s 
financial statements and providing the assurance of accuracy to shareholders. The Company has always maintained 
a formal and transparent relationship with its external auditors, in seeking professional advice and ensuring 
compliance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

WHISTLEBLOWERS
The Company has adopted a Policy on Whistleblowing in order to provide a transparent and confidential process for dealing 
with concerns.

The following general principles are set out in the policy:

• All concerns raised by employees will be treated fairly and properly, as long as it is a genuine concern;
• the Company will not tolerate harassment or victimisation of anyone raising a genuine concern;
• any individual making a disclosure will retain anonymity unless the individual agrees otherwise;
• the Company will ensure that any individual raising a concern is aware of who is handling the matter; and / or
• the Company will ensure no one will be at risk of suffering some form of reprisal as a result of raising a concern even if 

the individual is mistaken.

A grievance procedure is also clearly outlined in the policy. 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE
The Board has taken steps to ensure that the Company has implemented, as far as possible, the Best Practices set out in 
the Code and considers that all other Best Practices have been implemented in accordance with the Code.
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AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEE PAID TO EXTERNAL AUDITORS
A non-audit fee amounting to RM5,000.00 was paid to the external auditors. The audit fees are disclosed in the financial 
section of this annual report. 
 
MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
There were no material contracts entered into by the Company involving the interests of the Directors, major shareholders 
and any chief executive who is not a Director, during the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS
On 4 November 2016, the Company undertook a private placement exercise for the issuance of shares of up to ten percent 
(10%) of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company in accordance with the general mandate pursuant to Section 
132D of the Companies Act, 1965, obtained from the shareholders of MGRC at its Eleventh Annual General Meeting 
convened on 10 December 2015. A total of 9,410,000 shares were placed out at a value of RM0.48 each. The proceeds 
from the private placement exercise amounted to a total of RM4,518,457.37 (comprising private placement proceeds 
amounting to RM 4,516,800.00 and interest amounting to RM1,657.37). 

The status of utilisation of proceeds as at 30 June 2017 is as follows:

Utilisation of Proceeds Proposed Actual Balance of
Purpose Utilisation Utilisation Amount Allocated
  Details (RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000) (%)

Development and business expansion 4,317 4,317 - 0%
Private placement expenses* 200 193 7 4%

Total 4,517 4,510 7

* The Board of Directors has approved the utilisation of the excess amount allocated for private placement expenses, as 
working capital.

RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE 
(“RRPTs”)
The information on RRPTs for the financial year under review is presented in the Audited Financial Statements in this 
Annual Report and the Circular to Shareholders. 

OTHER COMPLIANCE 
INFORMATION
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STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
AND RISK MANAGEMENT

INTRODUCTION
Pursuant to paragraph 15.26(b) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) ACE Market Listing Requirements 
(“ACE LR”), the Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Malaysian Genomics Resource Centre Berhad (“MGRC”) is pleased 
to provide the following statement on the state of internal control and risk management of the Group, comprising the 
Company and its subsidiary, which has been prepared in accordance with the “Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers” issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia and adopted 
by Bursa Securities. For the purposes of this statement for the financial year ending 30 June 2017, MPath Sdn Bhd and its 
subsidiaries are excluded as MPath Sdn Bhd was a jointly-controlled entity up to 8 June 2017. 

The Company was incorporated on 18 May 2004 and was listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities on 5 October 2010.

The Board is pleased to share the key aspects of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2017. 

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board is responsible to maintain a sound risk management framework and system of internal control to safeguard 
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets, as well as to review the adequacy and integrity of the system of internal 
control and risk management. The responsibility to review the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal 
control and risk management is delegated to the Audit Committee, which is empowered under its terms of reference to 
seek assurance on the adequacy and integrity of the internal control and risk management system from Management and 
through independent reviews carried out by the internal audit function.

The Board confirms that it has a formal process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the 
Group for the financial year under review and that this process is ongoing.

However, as there are inherent limitations in any system of internal controls, such systems put into effect by the Management 
can only reduce but cannot eliminate all risks that may impede the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. 
Therefore, the internal control and risk management system can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

KEY ELEMENTS OF THE GROUP’S INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Key elements of the Group’s internal control and risk management system established to facilitate the proper conduct of 
the Group’s businesses are described below:

1. Control Environment

 Internal policies and procedures continue to undergo constant improvements to ensure that they continue to support 
the Group’s business and operations. Internal Policies and Procedures pertaining to the Group’s business activities 
and operations are regularly reviewed and tested during the internal audit fieldwork conducted by the Internal 
Auditors. Recommendations for enhancements to such policies and procedures are then implemented / addressed.  

 The Group maintains a formal organisational structure. In addition, a formal set of Authority Limits is in place in order 
to establish and enhance the internal control system of the Group’s various operations. 

 The Authority Limits set out the limits of authority with regards to the following areas: 

• Statutory Requirements
• Annual Budget and Business Plan
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• Capital Expenditure and Fixed Assets
• Staff, Financial and Other Matters
• Sales and Marketing
• Acquisitions and Disposals; and
• Rights of Refusal 

 Every financial year, the Group issues an annual budget and business plan, which is approved by the Board. 

 The annual business plan covers areas such as mission, vision and corporate strategy, review of annual objectives 
and deliverables for the previous year, as well as annual objectives and deliverables for the current year. The annual 
business plan also sets out the organisational chart and reporting structure for the Group.  

 The Audit Committee, which comprises three (3) non-executive directors, two (2) of whom are independent and one 
(1) of whom is non-independent, reviews all internal audit reports and has regular meetings with the Management 
on all major internal control and risk management issues highlighted by the outsourced internal audit function.

 The Audit Committee also meets with the Internal Auditors at least twice a year, without the presence of the 
Management, to discuss any issues arising or specific observations from the internal audit fieldwork or report. 

2. Processes for Identifying, Evaluating and Managing Risk

 The Board recognises that the identification, evaluation and management of significant risks faced by the Group are 
ongoing processes. 

 The Board reviews internal control and risk management issues identified by the Management and maintains an 
ongoing commitment to strengthen the Group’s control environment and processes as well as its risk management 
processes. 

 Clear reporting structures are in place to ensure proper monitoring of the Group’s operations and regular quarterly 
reports are issued which monitor the Group’s performance.

A. INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION 

 The Board has outsourced its internal audit function to an external service provider, Axcelasia Columbus Sdn 
Bhd (“Internal Auditor”). 

 The Internal Auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee and prepares the internal audit plan (“IAP”) once 
every two (2) years. The IAP is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and subsequently, by the Board 
of Directors. 

 The Internal Auditor conducts two (2) internal audit cycles per financial year, and each two (2) year internal audit 
cycle covers the following key areas of the business and operations of the Company:

a) Genome Sequencing Analysis (GSA), covering all aspects of the Company’s whole genome sequencing 
services including sequencing and analysis, business development, sales, marketing, laboratory activities, 
billing, invoicing and collection, data security and privacy risks, and cost management;

b) Genetic Screening Services (GSS), covering all aspects of the Company’s genetic screening services 
including business development, sales, marketing, laboratory activities, billing, invoicing and collection, 
data security and privacy risks, and cost management;

c) Financial Management, covering all aspects of the Company’s financial operations including accounts 
payable, accounts receivable, credit control and procurement; and

d) Human Resource, covering all aspects of the Company’s human resource operations such as training 
and development, payroll, recruitment and manpower planning.

 Internal audits are conducted based on the IAP covering the adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency of 
governance, risk management and internal controls. During the internal audits, areas where internal control 
deficiencies are noted, improvement opportunities are recommended and follow-up audits on corrective actions 
are carried out.  
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 The Audit Committee deliberates on the internal audit reports which include the audit findings, recommended 
corrective actions and management responses in areas where there are significant risks and internal control 
deficiencies. The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Internal Auditors and when required, the Audit 
Committee meets with the Internal Auditors without the presence of Executive Board members or Management.

B. INTERNAL RISK EVALUATION, IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT PROCESS

 In addition to the implementation of the recommendations of the outsourced internal audit function, the 
Management also conducts its own internal risk assessment once every financial year. 

 Once every financial year, key process owners identify key risk areas for the financial year as well as how such 
risks can be managed or mitigated. The Management then tables a report on its findings in the form of a Risk 
Management report, before the Audit Committee and the Board as a whole. 

 The Risk Management report sets out:

a) Definitions of risk;
b) Categorisation of risk;
c) Risk parameters (financial and non-financial);
d) Likelihood of occurrence; and
e) Guidance on risk treatment options.

 The areas of risk covered by the report include strategic, project and operational risks. Areas such as collection 
of accounts receivable, cash flow management, competition, regulatory developments, human resource and 
succession planning were reviewed. As part of the report, the Management concluded that the most challenging 
risk faced was difficulty in collecting project fees due to the Company from certain customers.

 In order to manage and / or mitigate this risk, the Management has implemented processes whereby ageing 
invoices are actively monitored. Steps taken to collect outstanding trade debts in a timely manner include 
constant engagement between the sales account managers and the customer, and constant tracking of 
ageing invoices by the accounts department. If necessary, senior management will take on the responsibility to 
personally follow up with the customer on the issue of payment. 

 OPINION OF THE BOARD

 The improvement of the system of internal control is an ongoing process and the Board maintains an ongoing 
commitment to strengthening the Group’s internal control and risk management environment and processes. 

 Based on the internal processes which have been put into place by the Management, as well as the activities 
carried out by and subsequent reports of the outsourced Internal Audit function, the Board is of the view that 
the Group’s system of internal control and risk management is sufficiently sound and adequate to safeguard the 
shareholders’ investments and Group’s assets for the financial year under review.

 The Board has received assurance from the Managing Director and the Financial Controller that the Group’s 
internal control and risk management system is operating adequately and effectively at the operating companies. 

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The external auditors have performed limited assurance procedures on this Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control pursuant to the scope set out in Recommended Practice Guide (“RPG”) 5 (Revised), Guidance for Auditors on 
Engagements to Report on the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control included in the Annual Report issued 
by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) for inclusion in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 
2017, and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that cause them to believe the statement intended 
to be included in the Annual Report is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the disclosures required by 
paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Guidelines, nor is the Statement factually inaccurate. 

RPG 5 does not require the external auditors to consider whether the Directors’ Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control covers all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control system including the assessment and opinion by the Directors and management thereon. 
The report from the external auditor was made solely for, and directed solely to the Board of Directors in connection with 
their compliance with the listing requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and for no other purposes or parties. 
The external auditors do not assume responsibility to any person other than the Board of Directors in respect of any aspect 
of this report. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT
The principle objectives of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in discharging its statutory duties and responsibilities 
in relation to corporate governance, internal control systems, management and financial reporting practices of the Company, 
and to ensure proper disclosure to the shareholders of the Company. 

MEMBERS
The current members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Mr Toh Seng Thong
(Independent Non-Executive Director) (Chairperson)  

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim
(Senior Independent Non-Executive Chairperson) (Member)  

En Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali       
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director) (Member)  

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE 
During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee convened five (5) meetings and the attendance of each 
Committee member at each meeting is set out as follows:

Committee Members No. of Meetings Attended

Mr Toh Seng Thong 5/5

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim 5/5

En Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali 5/5

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
1. OVERSIGHT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS

 During the financial year ended 30 June 2017, the Audit Committee carried out its duties as set out in its Terms 
of Reference. The Audit Committee discharged its oversight role by carrying out the following activities during the 
financial year:

• Reviewed the unaudited quarterly financial results and annual audited financial statements, as well as the audit 
report and issues arising from the audits with the external auditors of the Group and the Company including the 
announcements pertaining thereto, before recommending the same to the Board for approval and release of 
the Group’s results to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”). 

• In particular, the Audit Committee focused on changes in or implementation of major accounting policies, 
significant matters highlighted during financial reporting and / or significant judgments made by management, 
as well as significant and unusual events.

• Reviewed the Group’s Audit Planning Memorandum for the financial year under review prior to the commencement 
of the annual audit. The Audit Planning Memorandum was presented to the Audit Committee by the external 
auditors in May 2017.

• Met with external auditors twice during the financial year without the presence of Executive Board members and 
management, during which meetings with the external auditors were given the opportunity to raise any issues 
of concern directly to the Audit Committee. 
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• Reviewed related party transactions and the adequacy of the Company’s procedures and processes in 
identifying, monitoring, reporting and reviewing related party transactions in a timely and orderly manner. The 
Company has a policy in place whereby in every financial year, each Executive and Non-Executive director 
must review and sign off on a related party transaction declaration document. This exercise is carried out in the 
month of August, annually. 

• Noted emerging financial reporting issues pursuant to the introduction of new accounting standards, as well as 
additional statutory, legal and regulatory disclosure requirements. 

2. OVERSIGHT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION 

a) Procedures to Assess Suitability and Independence of External Auditors

 The Audit Committee has established a clear policy framework on the assessment of suitability and independence 
of the external auditors, entitled “Policy Governing the Engagement of Auditors and Provision of Audit and Non-Audit 
Services”.

 Extracts from the Policy are set out below:

A. SUITABILITY OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

i) Initial Appointment 

1. Prior to appointing external auditors, the Audit Committee conducts a thorough assessment of the suitability 
of the audit firm in question. Amongst the factors considered are the:

a) size of the audit firm;
b) resources at the disposal of the audit firm;
c) level of expertise of the audit firm;
d) audit firm’s familiarity with the business of the Company and the industry in general;
e) local and international reputation of the audit firm; and
f) structure of the audit firm. 

ii) Annual Re-Appointment of External Auditors

1. The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the suitability of the external auditors on an annual basis. 

2. Once a year, the outgoing external auditors present a detailed audit planning memorandum to the Audit 
Committee in writing, covering inter alia, the following aspects: 

a) Audit responsibilities and limitations;
b) Responsibilities and representations of the company;
c) Fees and billings;
d) Confidentiality;
e) Data protection;
f) Term and termination;
g) Dispute resolution; and
h) Representations and warranties of the auditors.

3. If the Audit Committee is satisfied that the above matters are in order, the Chairperson of the Audit 
Committee shall make the relevant recommendations to the Board of Directors that the outgoing external 
audit firm be re-appointed to undertake the full year audit for the year ahead.

4. If the Audit Committee is not satisfied that the above matters are in order, the Chairperson of the Audit 
Committee shall recommend to the Board that steps be taken to appoint a different audit firm to undertake 
the full year audit for the year ahead. 
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B. INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

 The Audit Committee periodically reviews and monitors the independence of the external auditors as follows: 

a) Full Year Audit

1. Once a year, the existing external auditors of the Company shall present a detailed Audit Planning 
Memorandum to the Audit Committee in writing. 

2. The Audit Planning Memorandum shall incorporate a representation attesting to the independence 
of the audit firm in the course of conducting the audit. 

b) Assessment on Suitability and Independence of External Auditors

 The Company’s external auditor, Messrs Crowe Horwath, was appointed as the external auditor of the 
Company at the Twelfth Annual General Meeting held on 21 November 2016. 

 In accordance with the Policy, the Audit Planning Memorandum tabled before the Audit Committee by the 
external auditors, Messrs Crowe Horwath, contains written assurances of independence.

 Discussions on the suitability and independence of the external auditors are minuted during Audit 
Committee and Board meetings. 

c) Summary of External Auditor’s Activities

 The summary of the external auditors’ activities below discloses activities conducted during the financial 
year under review. It comprises information on significant issues raised and addressed by the external 
auditors. 

 In relation to audit and audit-related services, the Audit Planning Memorandum addressed the following 
areas:

• Engagement and reporting requirements;
• Audit approach;
• Areas of audit emphasis;
• Communication with management;
• Engagement team;
• Reporting and deliverables;
• Proposed audit fees; and
• Accounting standards, tax updates and amendments to legislation.

 Deliverables upon completion of the external audit, include the issuance of auditors’ reports, and a 
separate Audit Review Memorandum highlighting major audit and accounting issues encountered, and 
the resolution of such issues.

 Specifically, the external auditors’ report expresses opinions on, and reports to the audit committee  
(or those charged with governance) the results of their audits of: 

• The consolidated and separate financial statements of MGRC for the year ended 30 June 2017; 

• The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 of the subsidiaries of MGRC; and

• MGRC’s Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control in accordance with Recommended 
Practice Guide 5 - Guidance for Auditors on the Review of Directors’ Statement on Internal Control 
(“RPG 5”) issued by Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

3. OVERSIGHT OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT AUDIT FUNCTION
 
 In discharging its duties and responsibilities, the Audit Committee is supported by an independent and adequately 

resourced internal audit function. The internal audit function is outsourced to Axcelasia Columbus Sdn Bhd  
(“Internal Auditors”), an independent professional services firm which assesses the adequacy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management system. 

46



 During the financial year ended 30 June 2017, the internal audit function carried out audits in accordance with the 
internal audit plan approved by the Audit Committee and also other areas of significance that were recommended 
by the Management, to the Audit Committee. The results of the internal audit reviews and the recommendations for 
enhancement of existing controls were duly presented to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has full access 
to the Internal Auditors and has received reports on audits performed. 

 The Audit Committee oversees the internal control and risk management framework of the Group. During the 
financial year under review, the Audit Committee performed the following activities:

• Met with Internal Auditors twice during the financial year without the presence of any Executive Board members 
and management, during which meetings the Internal Auditors were given an opportunity to raise any issues of 
concern directly to the Audit Committee;

• Reviewed the internal audit plan and internal audit reports issued by the Internal Auditors, considered the 
findings of Internal Auditors, as well as management’s response thereon, and monitored the implementation of 
agreed recommendations and action plans;

• Reviewed the Risk Management Report prepared by the Management and submitted to the Audit Committee 
once every financial year, requested for more information and proposed amendments to the content to better 
address risk management best practices;

• Reviewed the Letter of Representation on the Review of the Statement on Internal Control and Risk Management 
from the Management to the external auditors; and

• Sought and obtained periodic updates from the Internal Auditors on the status of implementation of post-audit 
recommendations from previous, as well as current, internal audit cycles. 

The Internal Auditors conducted two (2) internal audit cycles during the financial year under review, as follows:

a) Genome Sequencing Analysis (GSA), covering the areas of business development, data security and privacy 
risks, and sales and marketing; and 

b) Genetic Screening Services (GSS), covering the areas of business development, data security and privacy 
risks, and cost management. 

 The Audit Committee also oversees the review of the Statement on Internal Control and Risk Management 
(“SORMIC”) conducted by the external auditors. Prior to the conclusion of the external audit, the external auditor 
reviews the Internal Audit Report and follows up on the status of the recommendations therein in the course of the 
SORMIC audit fieldwork. 

 Once completed, the external auditor issues a written communication to the Management and the Audit Committee 
describing significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified during the audit, if any; and issues a 
management letter including recommendations for improvements in controls and procedures, if applicable.

4. REVIEW OF THE PERFORMANCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
 
 The performance of the Audit Committee was reviewed once during the financial year by the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee. 

5. FEES 
 
 Costs incurred by the Company in connection with the outsourced internal audit function as at 30 June 2017 

amounted to RM45,722.93.

 A non-audit fee amounting to RM 5,000 was paid to the external auditors. 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors are required to take reasonable steps to ensure that the financial statements of Malaysian Genomics Resource 
Centre Berhad (“MGRC”) are drawn up in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016, so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the financial year, and of the results and the cash flows of the Company for 
the year then ended. 

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 that:

•  the Company has adopted the appropriate accounting policies and has applied them consistently;
•  reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates have been made;
•  all applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia have been followed; and
•  the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company, and which enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016.

The Directors have general responsibilities to take such steps as are necessary to ensure that appropriate systems 
are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Company, and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities and material misstatements. Such systems, by their nature, can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud. 
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Malaysian Genomics Resource Centre Berhad (MGRC) takes its social responsibility towards the wider community 
seriously.  As much as a company has its obligations to its shareholders, it has an equally important obligation towards 
society. We see our corporate social responsibility (CSR) programme as a way to give back to the community in which we 
are a part of.

Our CSR programme is an integral part of our corporate identity. Not only is it a vehicle for us to participate in community 
work, it is also a means of fostering camaraderie amongst colleagues within the MGRC family. As is the case with any 
corporate organisation, it is inevitable that employees view each other in a professional capacity at work and there is often 
an invisible barrier between employees of different ranks within the organisational hierarchy.

However, during CSR activities, this invisible barrier between employees fades away as they see each other as individuals 
rather than just colleagues. This nurtures better workplace relationships, where colleagues see each other in a more 
personal light away from the usual formalities, ultimately leading to a much happier work environment where everyone 
feels included.

Caring and Creating Awareness

MGRC has been for many years a stalwart supporter of the PERTIWI, a non-governmental organisation (NGO), which is 
committed to help Kuala Lumpur’s homeless and urban poor community. In addition to feeding the homeless, PERTIWI 
also provides a mobile medical service, training and mentoring programmes, job placements, free haircuts and other forms 
of assistance especially to the elderly, single mothers and children.

MGRC also participates in activities aimed at increasing public awareness towards the plight of the homeless and the 
poor. This includes presentation in schools, universities and at international conferences on leadership to demonstrate 
the compatibility of having a corporate position and at the same time playing an active role in making a difference to the 
community.

While MGRC has had an enduring relationship with PERTIWI, and intends to do so for many more years to come, we also 
support other NGOs to expand our range of CSR activities. This is to ensure that a wider section of the community may 
benefit from our CSR programmes.

CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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Caring for the Environment

We remain a steadfast supporter of Free Tree Society Kuala Lumpur (FTS), a NGO which plants, nurtures seedlings and 
then gives away free plants to the public in an effort to encourage the public to preserve nature by planting trees around 
their homes and in the community. 

We have helped FTS in various activities such as caring for their plants, donating to their cause and conducting fogging in 
areas surrounding their nursery to prevent the possible spread of mosquito-borne diseases in the neighbourhood.

Education and Awareness

As MGRC moves its core business to the application of genetics in healthcare, we see an increasing need to inform and 
educate the public on the importance of genetic screening and molecular diagnostics in managing one’s health. Through 
various programmes, MGRC seeks to impress upon the public the importance of preventive health management in order 
to prevent the onset of especially inherited chronic diseases. 

These programmes are targeted at different segments of society, depending on the type of chronic diseases they are 
known to be susceptible to. 
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES   
The Company’s principal activities are providing genome sequencing, bioinformatics analysis services and genetic 
screening services, providing online access to genomic data and bioinformatics applications and investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 12 to the financial statements.

RESULTS
Group Company

RM RM

Profit/(Loss) net of tax 589,300 (1,111,155)

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those disclosed in 
the financial statements.

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were 
not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature other than as disclosed in the 
financial statements.

DIRECTORS   
The name of Directors of the Company who served during the financial year until the date of this report are as follows:

Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus   
Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid   
Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim   
Dato’ Dr Norraesah binti Haji Mohamad   
Toh Seng Thong   
Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali   

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS    
Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the 
Company was a party, whereby the Directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures 
of the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than 
benefits included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due and receivable by the Directors or the fixed 
salary of a full time employee of the Company as shown in Note 7 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract 
made by the Company or a related corporation with any Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with 
a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, except for those transactions arising in the ordinary 
course of business disclosed in Note 23(b) to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS    
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in 
shares of the Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares
1.7.2016 Acquired Sold 30.6.2017

Ordinary shares of the Company

Direct interest:
Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 80,000 - - 80,000
Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 100,000 - - 100,000
Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim 100,000 - - 100,000
Dato’ Dr Norraesah binti Haji Mohamad 140,000 - - 140,000
Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali 100,000 - (100,000) -

Ordinary shares of the
  immediate holding company
  Synamatix Sdn Bhd

Indirect interest:
Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 2,933,334 - - 2,933,334
Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 2,933,334 - - 2,933,334
Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali 430,521 - - 430,521
 

Ordinary shares of the ultimate holding company
  Neuramatix Sdn Bhd

Direct interest:
Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 548,182 - - 548,182
Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 1,643,845 - - 1,643,845

Indirect interest:
Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus * 353 - - 353
Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid * 353 - - 353
Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali 17,655 - - 17,655

Ordinary shares of the related company
  Linguamatix Sdn Bhd

Direct interest:
Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 27,432 - - 27,432
Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 82,296 - - 82,296

Indirect interest:
Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 640,080 - - 640,080
Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 640,080 - - 640,080

* Included the interest of children of the Directors pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act 2016.

 By virtue of their shareholdings in the holding companies, Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus and Datuk 
Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid are deemed to have interests in the shares in the Company and its related corporations 
to the extent of the holding companies’ interests, in accordance with Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.

 The other Director in office at the end of the financial year did not have any interest in shares in the Company or its related 
corporations during the financial year.
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ISSUE OF SHARES
During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and fully paid-up share capital from RM9,410,048 to 
RM10,351,048 by way of an issuance of 9,410,000 new ordinary shares at an issue price of RM0.48 per share pursuant to 
a private placement exercise. The shares were issued for cash consideration.

The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION
(a) Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the 

Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 
allowance for impairment losses on receivables and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts 
and that adequate allowance had  been made for impairment losses on receivables; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting records 
in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to 
realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i) it necessary to write off bad debts or the amount of the allowance for impairment losses on receivables in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and

(ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
misleading.

(c) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render 
adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or 
inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report 
or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading.

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

(f) In the opinion of the Directors: 

(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of 
twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the 
Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due; and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the 
Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.
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HOLDING COMPANIES
The immediate and ultimate holding companies are Synamatix Sdn Bhd and Neuramatix Sdn Bhd respectively. Both the 
aforesaid holding companies are incorporated in Malaysia.

SUBSIDIARIES
The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The significant event during the financial year is disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS
The auditors, Messrs. Crowe Horwath, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

The details of the auditors’ remuneration are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors as part of the terms of its audit engagement 
against any claims by third parties arising from the audit. No payment has been made to indemnify the auditors during the 
financial year or since the end of the financial year.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 20 September 2017

Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus         Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS 
Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

We, Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus and Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid, being two of the directors 
of Malaysian Genomics Resource Centre Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the accompanying 
financial statements set out on pages 66 to 113 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 30 June 2017 and of their financial 
performance and cash flows for the financial year ended on that date.

The supplementary information set out in Note 31 to the financial statements on page 114 have been prepared in accordance 
with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of 
Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirement, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 20 September 2017

Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus         Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid

STATUTORY DECLARATION 
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016

I, Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management 
of Malaysian Genomics Resource Centre Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial 
statements set out on pages 66 to 113 are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared 
by the abovenamed Robert George 
Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 
at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal         Robert George Hercus
Territory on 20 September 2017           @ Abdul Karim Hercus

Before me, 

Tan Seok Kett 
(No: W 530) 
Commissioner for Oaths 

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MALAYSIAN GENOMICS RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
Company No : 652790 - V

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Malaysian Genomics Resource Centre Berhad, which comprise the statements 
of financial position as at 30 June 2017 of the Group and of the Company, statements of comprehensive income, statements 
of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 66 to 113.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and of the Company as at 30 June 2017, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then 
ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards  and  the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the preceding financial year were audited by another firm of 
auditors whose report dated 5 October 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct 
and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants  (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MALAYSIAN GENOMICS RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD (cont’d)
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
Company No : 652790 - V

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the  financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Purchase Price Allocation (“PPA”)
The Group completed its acquisition of the remaining 50% 
equity of MPath Sdn Bhd on 9 June 2017 for a purchase 
consideration of RM11.5 million.

In accordance to MFRS 3 “Business Combination”, the 
management shall perform a PPA exercise to recognise 
the fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed with the excess of the unallocated cost of 
acquisition over the fair values recognised as goodwill.

The management has applied MFRS 3 Para 45 
“Measurement Period” in this regard with provisional fair 
value figures assigned to the acquired identifiable assets 
and assumed liabilities in its computation of goodwill as 
disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements. 

Management’s judgement is involved in the identification 
and valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed.

Our procedures included, among others:

-  Assessing management’s identification of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed by way of understanding 
the rationale of the acquisition.

-  Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology 
used by management in arriving at the provisional fair 
values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed.

-  Checking Share Sale Agreement for the acquisition and 
board minutes to confirm the purchase consideration.

-  Checking the adequacy of the related disclosures in the 
financial statements.

Impairment of Goodwill
The Group carries significant goodwill as disclosed in Note 
11 to the financial statements following the acquisition of 
the remaining 50% equity interest in MPath Sdn Bhd. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually irrespective 
of whether there is any indication of impairment. The 
impairment test involved significant judgements and 
estimation uncertainty in making key assumptions about 
future market and economic conditions, growth rates, 
profit margins, discount rate, etc.

Our procedures included, among others:

-  Evaluating whether the method used by the Group in 
measuring the recoverable amount is appropriate in the 
circumstances.

-  Making enquiries of and challenging management on the 
key assumptions and inputs used in the measurement 
method.

-  Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in the 
financial statements, including sensitivity analysis 
based on gross margin, growth rate and discount rate, 
to evaluate the impact on the impairment assessment.
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Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of Plant and Equipment and Intangible 
Asset
Management performed impairment assessment on the 
plant and equipment (development servers and laboratory 
equipment) with a net carrying value of RM182,696 
and software licenses with a net carrying value of 
RM1,171,023 grouped together as a cash generating unit 
of the Company following indicators of impairment.

As a result, impairment losses of RM67,677 and 
RM433,791 were recognised on the development 
servers and laboratory equipment and software licenses 
respectively as disclosed in Note 10 and Note 11 to the 
financial statements.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is 
determined based on discounted cash flows projection 
which requires judgement from management on the 
future financial performance and the key assumptions 
used such as growth rates, gross margin, etc.

Our procedures included, among others:

-  Comparing forecasts to business plan and previous 
forecasts to actual results to assess the performance 
of the business and accuracy of the cash flow forecast 
provided by the management.

-  Making enquiries of and challenging management on 
the key assumptions and inputs used in the cash flow 
forecast.

-  Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in the 
financial statements, including sensitivity analysis 
based on gross margin, growth rate and discount rate, 
to evaluate the impact on the impairment assessment.

Impairment of Trade Receivables
The Group carries significant trade receivables as 
disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements. The 
Group is exposed to major credit risk especially those 
arising from receivables of its subsidiary Clinipath 
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd. The assessment of recoverability 
of trade receivables involved judgements and estimation 
uncertainty in analysing historical bad debts, customer 
creditworthiness, customer payment terms and etc.

Our procedures included, among others:

-  Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s control over 
the receivable collection process.

-  Reviewing the ageing analysis of receivables and testing 
the reliability thereof.

-  Reviewing subsequent cash collections for major 
receivables and overdue amounts.

-  Making inquiries of management regarding the action 
plans to recover overdue amounts.

-  Comparing and challenging management’s view on the 
recoverability of overdue amounts to historical patterns 
of collections and recent trading activities with overdue 
receivables.

-  Examining other evidence including customer 
correspondences, proposed or existing settlement plans, 
repayment schedules, etc.

-  Evaluating the reasonableness and adequacy of the 
allowance for impairment recognised for identified 
exposures.

Information Other Than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our 
auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MALAYSIAN GENOMICS RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD (cont’d)
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
Company No : 652790 - V

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group and the 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As a part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and of the 
Company’s internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Directors.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group and the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication. 

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

The supplementary information set out in Note 31 on page 114 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised 
Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as 
issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 
In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance 
and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies 
Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this 
report.

Crowe Horwath                Ong Beng Chooi
Firm No : AF 1018                Approval No : 03155/05/2019 J
Chartered Accountants                Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
6 October 2017
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Revenue 4 9,872,956 10,433,622 8,591,445 10,654,122
Cost of sales (2,956,203) (1,852,654) (2,065,733) (1,852,654)

Gross profit 6,916,753 8,580,968 6,525,712 8,801,468
Other income 1,670,833 31,024 176,355 31,024
Administrative expenses (7,612,321) (6,357,110) (7,419,773) (6,357,110)
Marketing and distribution (397,256) (584,673) (359,169) (584,673)
Finance cost (15,639) - - -
Share of profits
  of a joint venture  105,888 76,390 - - 

Profit/(loss) before tax 5 668,258 1,746,599 (1,076,875) 1,890,709
Income tax expense 8 (78,958) (7,806) (34,280) (7,806)

Profit/(loss) net of tax,
  representing total
  comprehensive income/
  (expenses) for the year 589,300 1,738,793 (1,111,155) 1,882,903

Earnings per share
  attributable to owners
  of the parent
  (sen per share)

  - Basic 9 0.59 1.85

  - Diluted 9 0.59 1.85

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME
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AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
Note RM RM

Group

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 13,241,332 526,868
Intangible assets 11 9,824,514 1,781,991
Investment in a joint venture - 9,903,453
Non-current financial asset 13 268,275 -
Deferred tax asset 14  624 -

 23,334,745 12,212,312

Current assets
Inventories 15 2,003,076 1,169,308
Trade and other receivables 16 10,321,650 3,993,609
Other current assets 17 22,854 19,445
Tax recoverable 236,077 24,556
Cash and bank balances 18  1,880,165 4,047,326

 14,463,822 9,254,244

Total assets 37,798,567 21,466,556

Equity and liabilities

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 19 1,854,258 -
Trade and other payables 20  7,877,857 2,075,491

 9,732,115 2,075,491

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 14 662,445 -
Loans and borrowings 19  3,099,346 -

 3,761,791 -

Total liabilities 13,493,906 2,075,491

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 21 10,351,048 9,410,048
Share premium 22 18,138,337 14,755,041
Accumulated losses 22 (2,502,633) (3,091,933)
Other reserve 22 (1,682,091) (1,682,091)

Total equity 24,304,661 19,391,065

Total equity and liabilities 37,798,567 21,466,556

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION
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AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

2017 2016
Note RM RM

Company

Assets

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 10 339,584 526,868
Intangible assets 11 737,232 1,781,991
Investment in subsidiaries 12 20,542,502 2
Investment in a joint venture - 9,042,500

 21,619,318 11,351,361

Current assets
Inventories 15 877,093 1,169,308
Trade and other receivables 16 4,014,982 3,993,609
Other current assets 17 22,854 19,445
Tax recoverable 31,351 24,556
Cash and bank balances 18 585,021 4,047,324 

 5,531,301 9,254,242

Total assets 27,150,619 20,605,603

Equity and liabilities

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities 14 - -

Current liability
Trade and other payables 20 5,392,220 2,060,345 

Total liabilities 5,392,220 2,060,345 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 21 10,351,048 9,410,048
Share premium 22 18,138,337 14,755,041
Accumulated losses 22 (6,730,986) (5,619,831)

Total equity 21,758,399 18,545,258

Total equity and liabilities 27,150,619 20,605,603

   
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Attributable to owners of the parent

Non-distributable
Equity Share Share Other Accumulated

total capital premium reserve losses
RM RM RM RM RM

Group

2017

Opening balance at
  1 July 2016 19,391,065 9,410,048 14,755,041 (1,682,091) (3,091,933)
Total comprehensive income 589,300 - - - 589,300
Issuance of ordinary shares 4,324,296 941,000 3,383,296 - - 

Closing balance at
  30 June 2017 24,304,661 10,351,048 18,138,337 (1,682,091) (2,502,633)

2016

Opening balance at
  1 July 2015 17,652,272 9,410,048 14,755,041 (1,682,091) (4,830,726)
Total comprehensive income  1,738,793 - - - 1,738,793 

Closing balance at
  30 June 2016 19,391,065 9,410,048 14,755,041 (1,682,091) (3,091,933)

Attributable to owners of the parent
Non-distributable

Equity Share Share Accumulated
total capital premium losses
RM RM RM RM

Company

2017

Opening balance
  at 1 July 2016 18,545,258 9,410,048 14,755,041 (5,619,831)
Total comprehensive expense (1,111,155) - - (1,111,155)
Issuance of ordinary shares 4,324,296 941,000 3,383,296 - 

Closing balance
  at 30 June 2017 21,758,399 10,351,048 18,138,337 (6,730,986)

2016

Opening balance
  at 1 July 2015 16,662,355 9,410,048 14,755,041 (7,502,734)
Total comprehensive income 1,882,903 - - 1,882,903 

Closing balance
  at 30 June 2016 18,545,258 9,410,048 14,755,041 (5,619,831)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN 
EQUITY

69



FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Operating activities
Profit/(Loss) before tax 668,258 1,746,599 (1,076,875) 1,890,709
Adjustments for:
  Depreciation of property,
    plant and equipment 10 286,501 314,236 239,333 314,236
  Amortisation of intangible
    assets 11 612,848 610,969 610,968 610,969
  Gain on disposal of
    plant and equipment 5 (12,202) - (19,023) -
  Share of profits of a
    joint venture (105,888) (76,390) - -
  Impairment on
    - amount owing by a subsidiary 5 - - 8,607 8,118
    - plant and equipment 5 67,677 - 67,677 -
    - intangible asset 5 433,791 - 433,791 -
    - trade receivables 5 40,982 - - -
  Reversal of impairment losses
    on trade receivables 5 (2,602) - - -
  Fair value adjustment on
    non-current financial asset 5 (10,852) - - -
  Gain on remeasurement of
    equity interest in acquiree,
      previously accounted for as
        a joint venture 5 (1,490,659) - - -
  Interest expense 5 15,640 - - -
  Interest income 5 (139,518) (31,024) (138,301) (31,024)
  Dividend income 5 - - - (220,500)
Total adjustments (304,282) 817,791 1,203,052 681,799

Operating cash flows
  before changes
  in working capital 363,976 2,564,390 126,177 2,572,508
Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables (152,915) 3,107,068 (33,389) 3,098,950
Inventories 292,214 (1,933) 292,215 (1,933)
Trade and other payables 3,206,861 (1,989,999) 3,331,875 (1,989,999)

Total changes in working capital 3,346,160 1,115,136 3,590,701 1,107,018

Cash flows generated from
  operations 3,710,136 3,679,526 3,716,878 3,679,526
Interest paid (15,640) - - -
Income tax (refunded)/paid (19,910) 2,894 (41,075) 2,894

Net cash flows generated from
  operating activities 3,674,586 3,682,420 3,675,803 3,682,420

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Investing activities
Interest received 139,518 31,024 138,301 31,024
Dividend received from a
  joint venture - 220,500 - 220,500
Acquisition of subsidiaries,
  net of cash acquired 12 (11,607,354) - - -
Proceeds from disposal
  of plant and equipment 42,783 - 42,783 -
Investment in
  a subsidiary - - (11,500,000) -
Increase in fixed deposit
  pledged with licensed bank (12,435) - - -
Purchase of plant and
  equipment 10 (143,486) (181,424) (143,486) (181,424)
Net cash flows (used in)/
  generated from investing
  activities (11,580,974) 70,100 (11,462,402) 70,100

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares 4,324,296 - 4,324,296 -
Net cash flows generated from
  financing activities 4,324,296 - 4,324,296 -

Net (decrease) / increase in
  cash and cash equivalents (3,582,092) 3,752,520 (3,462,303) 3,752,520
Cash and cash equivalents
  at 1 July 4,047,326 294,806 4,047,324 294,804
Cash and cash equivalents
  at 30 June 18 465,234 4,047,326 585,021 4,047,324

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
1. Corporate Information

 The Company is a public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on 
the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office of the Company is Level 7, Menara 
Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur. The principal 
place of business of the Company is 27-9, Level 9, Signature Office, Bandar Mid Valley, 59200 Kuala Lumpur.

 The immediate holding company of the Company is Synamatix Sdn Bhd and the ultimate holding company of the 
Company is Neuramatix Sdn Bhd. Both of the aforesaid companies are incorporated in Malaysia.

 The Company’s principal activities are providing genome sequencing, bioinformatics analysis services and genetic 
screening services, providing online access to genomic data and bioinformatics applications, and investment holding. 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 12 to the financial statements.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors on 20 September 2017.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of Preparation

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are prepared under the historical cost convention 
and modified to include other bases of valuation as disclosed in other sections under significant accounting 
policies, and in compliance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

 The Companies Act 2016 came into effect on 31 January 2017 (except for Section 241 and Division 8 of Part 
III of the said Act) and replaces the existing Companies Act 1965.

 Amongst the key changes introduced under the Companies Act 2016 that have affected the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company upon its initial adoption are:

 (i) Removal of the authorised share capital; and
 (ii) Ordinary shares will cease to have par value.

 The adoption of the Companies Act 2016 has been applied prospectively and the impacts of adoption are 
disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements.

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”).
 

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

 During the current financial year, the Group has adopted the following new accounting standards and 
interpretations (including the consequential amendments, if any):

 MFRSs and/or IC Interpretations (Including The Consequential Amendments)
 MFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
 Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 128: Investment Entities - Applying the Consolidation
 Amendments to MFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
 Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure Initiative
 Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 138: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
   Amortisation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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 Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141: Agriculture - Bearer Plants
 Amendments to MFRS 127: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
 Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

 The adoption of the above accounting standards and interpretations (including the consequential amendments, 
if any) did not have any material impact on the Group‟s financial statements.

 
2.3 Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

 The Group has not applied in advance the following accounting standards and interpretations (including the 
consequential amendments, if any) that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 
(“MASB”) but are not yet effective for the current financial year:

  MFRSs and/or IC Interpretations (Including The Consequential Amendments Effective Date

  MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014) 1 January 2018
  MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
  MFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
  MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021
  IC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018
  IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019
  Amendments to MFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment 
    Transactions 1 January 2018
  Amendments to MFRS 4: Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with MFRS 4 
    Insurance Contracts 1 January 2018
  Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
    Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Deferred
  Amendments to MFRS 15: Effective Date of MFRS 15 1 January 2018
  Amendments to MFRS 15: Clarifications to MFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with 
    Customers’ 1 January 2018
  Amendments to MFRS 107: Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017
  Amendments to MFRS 112: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1 January 2017
  Amendments to MFRS 140: Transfers of Investment Property 1 January 2018
  Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycles: 1 January 2017
  •   Amendments to MFRS 12: Clarification of the Scope of the Standard 
  Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycles: 
  •   Amendments to MFRS 1: Deletion of Short-term Exemptions for First-time Adopters
  •   Amendments to MFRS 128: Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value 1 January 2018

  
 The Directors expect that the adoption of the above accounting standards and interpretations (including the 

consequential amendments, if any) will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of 
initial application, except as discussed below:

 MFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers & Amendments to MFRS 15: Effective Date of MFRS 15 
& Amendments to MFRS 15: Clarifications to MFRS 15

 MFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for revenue recognition and will supersede the current 
revenue recognition guidance and other related interpretations when it becomes effective. Under MFRS 15, 
an entity shall recognise revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of 
the distinct promised goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to 
the customers. The amendments to MFRS 15 further clarify the concept of ‘distinct’ for the purposes of this 
accounting standard. In addition, extensive disclosures are also required by MFRS 15. The Group anticipates 
that the application of MFRS 15 in the future may have an impact on the amounts reported and disclosures 
made in the financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of  the 
financial impacts of MFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.
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2.4 Basis of Consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiares used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies 
are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

 The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following:

(i) Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee);

(ii) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and

(iii) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the Company considers the 
following in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power 
over the investee.

(i) The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders;

(ii) Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

(iii) Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(iv) Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

 A subsidiary is consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control over the subsidiary. All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised 
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

 Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.
 
 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control 

over the subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests 
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. The resulting differences is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) 
the previous carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest, 
is recognised in profit or loss. The subsidiary’s cumulative gain or loss which has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss or where applicable, 
transferred directly to retained earnings. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at 
the date control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial recognition of the investment.

 Business Combinations
 
 Acquisitions of a subsidiary are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 

measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The Group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis 
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transaction costs incurred are expensed and included in 
administrative expenses.

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset 
or liability, will be recognised in accordance with MFRS 139 either in profit and loss or as a charge to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. 
Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does 
not fall within the scope of MFRS 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate MFRS.
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 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts 
by the acquiree.

 
 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 

held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit and loss.

 Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If this consideration is lower than fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised in profit and loss.

 
2.5 Functional and Foreign Currencies

(a) Functional and Presentation Currency

 The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in RM, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

(b) Foreign Currency Transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates 
approximating those prevailing at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items, and non-monetary items carried at 
fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the translation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary items are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

2.6 Property, Plant and Equipment
 

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic  benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment other than freehold land are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, plant and 
equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with 
specific useful lives and depreciation. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised 
in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are 
satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

 Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following 
rates:

  Buildings 2%
  Computer hardware and software 25-50%
  Development servers 25%
  Laboratory equipment 20-33%
  Furniture, fittings and office equipment 10%
  Renovation and air-conditioners 10%
  Books and logo 10%
  Motor vehicles 20%
  Signboard 10%
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 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit 
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

 Fully depreciated plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use 
and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these plant and equipment.

 
2.7 Intangible Assets

 Intangible assets acquired are measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, intangible assets are 
measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over their estimated useful lives and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the assets are 
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or 
loss.

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, 
or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful lives 
of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed annually to determine whether the useful life 
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a 
prospective basis.

 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in profit or loss when the 
assets are derecognised.

 Software Licenses

 Software licenses are amortised on a straight line basis over 10 years and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the software license may be impaired.

 Customer Relationship Database

 Customer relationship database is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is calculated using straight-line method over 13 years and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is indication that the customer relationship database may be impaired.

 
2.8 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group 
makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash-generating units (“CGU”).

 
 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment  losses recognised 
in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 
unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.
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 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at its revalued amount. Any 
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of a previously 
recognised revaluation surplus for the same asset.

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at its revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

 
2.9 Investment in Subsidiaries

 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has all the following:

(i) Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee);

(ii) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and

(iii) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their 
carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

 
2.10 Investment in a Joint Venture

 A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control 
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.

 On acquisition of an investment in joint venture, any excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill and 
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee over the cost of investment is excluded from the carrying 
amount of the investment and is instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the 
joint venture’s profit or loss for the period in which the investment is acquired.

 A joint venture is equity accounted for from the date on which the investee becomes a joint venture.

 Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in a joint venture is recognised at cost, and 
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the joint venture after the date of acquisition. When the Group’s share of losses in 
a joint venture equal or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

 Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its joint 
venture are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in 
the joint venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the asset transferred.

 The financial statements of the joint venture is prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

 After application of the equity method, the Group applies MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect 
to its net investment in the joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment is 
tested for impairment in accordance with MFRS 136 Impairment of Assets as a single asset, by comparing 
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Reversal of an impairment loss is recognised to the extent that 
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in joint venture is accounted for at cost less 
impairment losses. On disposal of such investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount is included in profit or loss.

 
2.11 Financial Assets

 Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and 
the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

 The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, and 
designate all the financial assets as loans and receivables. The Group and the Company do not have any 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial 
assets.

 Loans and Receivables

 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as 
loans and receivables. The Group and the Company’s loans and receivables comprise receivables and cash 
and bank balances.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

 Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 12 
months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current.

 A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss.

 Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular 
way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e., the date 
that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.

 
2.12 Impairment of Financial Assets

 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired.

 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been 
incurred, the Group and the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of 
financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are 
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective 
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the Company’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the 
average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
default on receivables.

 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss through the use of an allowance 
account. When a financial asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.

 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the 
reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.13 Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of 
three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and fixed deposits 
pledged.

 
2.14 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition are costs of purchase of goods and are determined on a first-in first-out 
basis.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.15 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is 
reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 
rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.16 Financial Liabilities

 Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group and Company determined the classification of 
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

 Other Financial Liabilities

 The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables and other payables.

 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

 
2.17 Employee Benefits

 Short-term benefits such as wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as 
expenses in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short term 
accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered 
by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating 
compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

 Defined Contribution Plans

 The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in profit or loss in the period to which 
they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further liability in respect of the defined 
contribution plans.
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2.18 Leases

 Finance Lease

 A lease is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially to the Group all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower 
of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. The corresponding 
liability is included in the statement of financial position as hire purchase payables.

 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance costs and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance costs, which represent the difference between the total 
leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired, are recognised in the profit or loss and 
allocated over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability for each accounting period.

 Operating Lease

 Leases of assets under which substantial risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases.

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

 
2.19 Revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.

a) Services Rendered

 Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion at the reporting date. Stage of completion 
is determined by reference to completion of the physical proportion of the work. Where the contract 
outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised to the extent of the expenses recognised 
that are recoverable.

b) Interest Income

 Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.
 

2.20 Income Taxes

a) Current Tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

b) Deferred Tax

 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with the investment in a subsidiary and joint 
venture, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised except:

- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiary and joint 
venture, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
assets to be utilised.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against 
goodwill on acquisition.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.

 
2.21 Segment Reporting

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s 
primary decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

 
2.22 Share Capital and Share Issuance Expenses

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the 
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.

 Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction 
costs. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the 
period in which they are declared.

 
2.23 Current Versus Non-Current Classification

 The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non- 
current classification. An asset is current when it is:

- expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;
- held primarily for the purpose of trading;
- expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or
- cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 

12 months after the reporting period.

 All other assets are classified as non-current.
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 A liability is current when:

- it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;
- it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
- it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or
- there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 

reporting period.

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
 

2.24 Borrowing Costs

 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

 
2.25 Fair Value Measurements

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using a valuation technique. The measurement assumes that the transaction takes 
place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

 For financial reporting purposes, the fair value measurements are analysed into level 1 to level 3 as follows:
  
 Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liability that the entity 

can access at the measurement date;

 Level 2: Inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

 Level 3: Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
  
 The transfer of fair value between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change in circumstances 

that caused the transfer.

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the 
future.

 
3.1 Judgements Made in Applying Accounting Policies

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgement, 
apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:

 Revenue Recognition

 Revenue from genomics sequencing and analysis is recognised by reference to the stage of  completion 
which is determined by reference to completion of the physical proportion of the work at the reporting date.

 Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion. In making the judgement, the Group 
evaluates based on the work of internal specialists.
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3.2 Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are set out below.

(a) Economic Useful Lives of Software Licenses

 Management estimates the useful life of the software licenses to be approximately 10 years. Changes 
in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives 
and the residual values of this intangible asset, therefore future amortisation charges could be revised. 
The carrying amount of the Group’s software license at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 11.

(b) Economic Useful Life of the Customer Relationship Database

 Management estimates the useful life of the customer relationship database to be approximately 13 years. 
Changes in the expected customer database could impact the economic useful lives and the residual 
values of this intangible asset, therefore future amortisation charges could be revised. The carrying 
amount of the Group’s customer relationship database at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 11.

(c) Economic Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

 The Group estimates the useful lives of plant and equipment based on the period over which the assets 
are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical 
wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the relevant 
assets. In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on 
the internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future 
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates brought about by changes 
in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timings of recorded expenses for any period would be 
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the 
property, plant and equipment would increase the recorded expenses and decrease the non-current 
assets. The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at the reporting date is 
disclosed in Note 10.

(d) Impairment of Loans and Receivables

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers 
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtors and default 
or significant delay in payments.

 Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s loans and receivables at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 16.

 
(e) Impairment of Goodwill

 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. This requires 
management to estimate the expected future cash flows of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill 
is allocated and to apply a suitable discount rate in order to determine the present value of those cash 
flows. The future cash flows are most sensitive to budgeted gross margins, growth rates estimated and 
discount rate used. If the expectation is different from the estimation, such difference will impact the 
carrying value of goodwill.

(f) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

 When the recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on the estimate of the value in use of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset is allocated, the management is required to make an estimate of 
the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to apply a suitable discount rate 
in order to determine the present value of those cash flows.
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(g) Income Taxes

 There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination may be 
different from the initial estimate. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on its understanding of the 
prevailing tax laws and estimates of whether such taxes will be due in the ordinary course of business. 
Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such difference will impact the income tax expense and deferred tax balances in the year in which such 
determination is made.

(h) Write-Down of Inventories

 Reviews are made periodically by management on damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories. 
These reviews require judgement and estimates. Possible changes in these estimates could result in 
revisions to the valuation of inventories.

(i) Provisional Goodwill

 Goodwill is the excess of cost of business combination over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. The identifiable assets 
and liabilities shall be measured at their acquisition date fair values. If a purchase price allocation 
exercise is not completed as at the reporting date, the Group shall report a provisional goodwill on 
acquisition.

 During the measurement period, the acquirer shall retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts 
recognised at the acquisition date to, including recognition of additional assets and/or liabilities, to reflect 
new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if 
known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognised as of that date. However, the 
measurement period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

   
 The provisional goodwill on acquisition of MPath Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries (“MPath Group”) of 

RM8,828,307 is arrived at the excess of cost of business combination over the carrying amount of 
the identified assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition. The carrying amounts of the identified 
assets and liabilities are estimated to approximate its fair value as at the acquisition date as disclosed 
in Note 12. The Group will undertake a purchase price allocation exercise to determine the fair values of 
identifiable assets and liabilities, to identify and measure intangible assets, if any.

 The Group has performed the goodwill impairment test on the provisional goodwill and concluded that 
no impairment is required at this juncture.

4. Revenue

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Genome sequencing and analysis 5,941,112 8,900,346 5,941,112 8,900,346
Genetic screening services 2,649,053 1,533,276 2,650,333 1,533,276
Dividend income - - - 220,500
Pathology services 1,282,791 - - - 

9,872,956 10,433,622 8,591,445 10,654,122
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5. Profit/(Loss) Before Tax

 Profit/(Loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Auditors’ remuneration:
  - statutory audit 100,065 98,000 85,000 94,000
  - other services 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
Non-Executive Directors’
  remuneration (Note 7) 168,000 168,000 168,000 168,000
Rental expense on:
  - premises 307,083 322,434 307,083 322,434
  - office equipment  4,767 - - - 
Depreciation of property, plant and
  equipment (Note 10) 286,501 314,236 239,333 314,236
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 11) 612,848 610,969 610,968 610,969
Realised loss/(gain) on foreign
  exchange 8,175 (2,807) 8,175 (2,807)
Management fee charged by
  ultimate holding company 1,141,000 882,750 1,141,000 882,750
Impairment losses on:
  - amount owing by a subsidiary (Note 16(b)) - - 8,607 8,118
  - plant and equipment (Note10) 67,677 - 67,677 -
  - intangible assets (Note 11) 433,791 - 433,791 -
  - trade receivables (Note 16(a)) 40,982 - - -
Interest expense on financial liabilities not
  at fair value through profit or loss:
  - bank overdraft 5,437 - - -
  - hire purchase payables 1,284 - - -
  - term loans 8,919 - - -
Employee benefits expense (include
  Executive Directors’ remuneration) (Note 6) 3,508,931 3,356,030 3,174,102 3,356,030
Fair value adjustment on non-current
  financial asset (10,852) - - -
Gain on remeasurement of equity interest
  in acquiree, previously accounted for
    as a joint venture (1,490,659) - - -
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (12,202) - (19,023) -
Interest income from deposits with
  licensed banks (139,518) (31,024) (138,301) (31,024)
Reversal of impairment losses on
  trade receivables (2,602) - - -
Dividend income  - - - (220,500)
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6. Employee Benefits Expense

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Wages and salaries 3,186,687 3,063,259 2,897,430 3,063,259
Contributions to defined contribution plan 298,825 275,612 258,146 275,612
Social security contributions  23,419 17,159 18,526 17,159 

3,508,931 3,356,030 3,174,102 3,356,030

 Included in wages and salaries of the Group and of the Company is the remuneration of Executive Directors 
amounting to RM760,000 (2016 - RM860,000) respectively.

7. Directors’ Remuneration

 The details of remuneration receivable by Directors of the Company during the financial year are as follows:

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Executive Directors:
  Fee representing amount included in
    employee benefits expense (Note 6) 760,000 860,000 760,000 860,000
Fee representing amount included in
  management fees (Note 23(b))  198,000 198,000 198,000 198,000 

 958,000 1,058,000 958,000 1,058,000 

Non-Executive Directors:
  Fee  168,000 168,000 168,000 168,000 

Total Directors’ remuneration 1,126,000 1,226,000 1,126,000 1,226,000

 
 The number of Directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within the following 

bands is analysed below:

Number of Directors
Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Executive Directors:
RM50,001  - RM100,000 1 1 1 1
RM150,001 - RM200,000 1 1 1 1
RM650,001 - RM700,000 1 - 1 -
RM800,001 - RM850,000  - 1 - 1 

Non-Executive Directors:
RM0 - RM50,000 1 1 1 1
RM50,001 - RM100,000 2 2 2 2
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8. Income Tax Expense

 Major Components of Income Tax Expense  
  
 The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Current tax:
- Malaysian income tax 51,731 7,806 34,280 7,806

Deferred tax:
- origination of taxable temporary
    differences  27,227 - - -

78,958 7,806 34,280 7,806

      
 The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit/(loss) multiplied by the applicable 

corporate tax rate are as follows:    
     

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Profit/(Loss) before tax 668,258 1,746,599 (1,076,875) 1,890,709

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate
  of 24% (2016 - 24%) 160,382 419,184 (258,450) 453,770
Adjustments:
  Tax effect on share of profits of
    a joint venture (25,413) (18,334) - -
Income not subject to tax (417,702) (474,685) (68,961) (527,605)
Expenses not deductible for
  tax purposes 291,666 86,653 291,666 86,653
Utilisation of previously
  unrecognised unabsorbed
  capital allowance - (5,012) - (5,012)
Deferred tax assets not recognised
  in respect of tax losses and other
  deductible temporary differences  70,025 - 70,025 - 

78,958 7,806 34,280 7,806

      
 Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% of the estimated assessable profit for 

the year and will be reduced by 1% to 4% based on the percentage of increase in chargeable income as compared 
to the immediate preceding year of assessment (2016 - 24%).

 The Company is not liable to tax on its statutory business income for a period of 10 years as provided under 
the Income Tax (Exemption) (No. 17) Order 2007 as the Company has been conferred BioNexus status on  
23 July 2007. However, the Company is liable to tax on its interest income at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24%  
(2016 - 24%).
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9. Earnings Per Share
 
 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the financial year, net of tax, attributable to owners of 

the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Group

2017 2016

Profit net of tax attributable to owners of the parent (RM) 589,300 1,738,793

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic
  earnings per share computation 100,158,973 94,100,480

Basic earnings per share (sen) 0.59 1.85

 
 The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share as there are no outstanding potential dilutive 

instruments during the financial year.

<The rest of the page is intentionally left blank>
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment

Development Furniture, Computer
servers and fittings and Renovation hardware

Freehold laboratory Motor office Books and air- and
land Buildings equipment vehicles equipment and logo conditioners software Signboard Total
RM RM RM RM RM RM RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2017

Group

Cost
At 1 July 2016 - - 8,619,630 129,282 203,559 16,649 355,810 749,792 - 10,074,722
Acquisition of subsidiaries 
  (Note 12) 5,551,322 6,714,050 6,306,770 880,360 1,534,868 - 1,546,505 1,692,784 76,230 24,302,889
Additions - - 1,349 125,714 - - - 16,423 - 143,486
Disposal/Written off - - - (129,283) (6,728) - (119,275) (38,789) (5,057) (299,132)
At 30 June 2017 5,551,322 6,714,050 14,927,749 1,006,073 1,731,699 16,649 1,783,040 2,420,210 71,173 34,221,965

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2016 - - 8,345,886 129,282 140,130 7,740 264,266 660,550 - 9,547,854
Acquisition of subsidiaries
  (Note 12) - 941,023 5,672,472 863,732 1,263,194 - 1,193,014 1,364,787 48,930 11,347,152
Impairment for the financial
  year (Note 5) - 7,645 108,018 28,593 24,396 1,508 41,207 74,765 369 286,501
Disposal/Writen off - - - (129,282) (5,288) - (92,724) (38,774) (2,483) (268,551)

At 30 June 2017 - 948,668 14,126,376 892,325 1,422,432 9,248 1,405,763 2,061,328 46,816 20,912,956

Accumulated impairment
  loss
At 1 July 2016 - - - - - - - - - -
Impairment for the financial
  year (Note 5) - - 67,677 - - - - - - 67,677
At 30 June 2017 - - 67,677 - - - - - - 67,677

Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2017 5,551,322 5,765,382 733,696 113,748 309,267 7,401 377,277 358,882 24,357 13,241,332
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Development Furniture, Computer
servers and fittings and Renovation hardware

Freehold laboratory Motor office Books and air- and
land Buildings equipment vehicles equipment and logo conditioners software Signboard Total
RM RM RM RM RM RM RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2016

Group

Cost
At 1 July 2015 - - 8,558,910 129,282 199,699 16,649 355,110 680,696 - 9,940,346
Additions - - 60,720 - 3,860 - 700 116,144 - 181,424
Written off - - - - - - - (47,048) - (47,048)

At 30 June 2016 - - 8,619,630 129,282 203,559 16,649 355,810 749,792 - 10,074,722

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2015 - - 8,141,720 129,282 120,568 6,217 230,242 652,637 - 9,280,666
Impairment for the financial
  year (Note 5) - - 204,166 - 19,562 1,523 34,024 54,961 - 314,236
Written off - - - - - - - (47,048) - (47,048)

At 30 June 2016 - - 8,345,886 129,282 140,130 7,740 264,266 660,550 - 9,547,854

Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2016 - - 273,744 - 63,429 8,909 91,544 89,242 - 526,868
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d.)

Computer Development Furniture,
hardware servers and fittings and Renovation

and laboratory office and air- Books Motor
software equipment equipment conditioners and logo vehicle Total

RM RM RM RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2017

Company

Cost
At 1 July 2016 749,792 8,619,630 203,559 355,810 16,649 129,282 10,074,722
Additions 16,423 1,349 - - - 125,714 143,486
Disposal/Written off (38,789) - (6,728) (100,875) - (129,283) (275,675)

At 30 June 2017 727,426 8,620,979 196,831 254,935 16,649 125,713 9,942,533

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2016 660,550 8,345,886 140,130 264,266 7,740 129,282 9,547,854
Charge for the financial year
(Note 5) 67,514 92,397 19,512 33,259 1,508 25,143 239,333
Disposal/Written off (38,774) - (5,288) (78,571) - (129,282) (251,915)

At 30 June 2017 689,290 8,438,283 154,354 218,954 9,248 25,143 9,535,272

Accumulated impairment loss
At 1 July 2016 - - - - - - -
Impairment for the financial year
  (Note 5) - 67,677 - - - - 67,677

At 30 June 2017 - 67,677 - - - - 67,677

Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2017 38,136 115,019 42,477 35,981 7,401 100,570 339,584
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Computer Development Furniture,
hardware servers and fittings and Renovation

and laboratory office and air- Books Motor
software equipment equipment conditioners and logo vehicle Total

RM RM RM RM RM RM RM

Company

Cost
At 1 July 2015 680,696 8,558,910 199,699 355,110 16,649 129,282 9,940,346
Additions 116,144 60,720 3,860 700 - - 181,424
Written off (47,048) - - - - - (47,048)

At 30 June 2016 749,792 8,619,630 203,559 355,810 16,649 129,282 10,074,722

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2015 652,637 8,141,720 120,568 230,242 6,217 129,282 9,280,666
Charge for the financial year
  (Note 5) 54,961 204,166 19,562 34,024 1,523 - 314,236
Written off (47,048) - - - - - (47,048)

At 30 June 2016 660,550 8,345,886 140,130 264,266 7,740 129,282 9,547,854

Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2016 89,242 273,744 63,429 91,544 8,909 - 526,868
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d.)

(a) Included in the property, plant and equipment of the Group at the end of the reporting period were laboratory 
equipment with a total net book value of RM468,101 (2016 - Nil) which were acquired under hire purchase 
terms.

(b) Freehold land and buildings with net carrying amount of RM9,545,104 (2016 - Nil) have been pledged to a 
licensed bank as security for banking facilities granted to a subsidiary.

(c) The details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment carried at fair value are analysed as follows:

2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RM RM RM RM

Freehold land and buildings - 8,975,026 - 8,975,026

2016
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RM RM RM RM

Freehold land and buildings - - - -

  
 The level 2 fair values have been determined based on the market comparison approach that reflects recent 

transaction prices for similar properties. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per 
square foot of comparable properties. There has been no change to the valuation technique during the financial 
year.

(d) The Company conducted a review of the recoverable amount of certain plant and equipment (development 
servers and laboratory equipment) and intangible asset (software licenses) as a single cash generating unit 
following the completion of its major genome sequencing and analysis contract during the financial year. The 
review has led to the recognition of a total impairment loss of RM501,468 which comprise RM67,677 for plant 
and equipment and RM433,791 for intangible asset, included in ‘Administration expenses’ line item of the 
statements of comprehensive income. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is determined based 
on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projection based on financial budget covering a ten-year period. 
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are:

2017

Revenue growth rate 5.00%
Pre-tax discount rate 8.55%

 
 Based on the sensitivity analysis performed, a 1% decrease in revenue growth rate, with all other variables 

being held constant, would result in a further impairment loss of approximately RM537,000.
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11. Intangible Assets

Group Customer
relationship Software

2017 database Goodwill licenses Total
RM RM RM RM

Cost

At 1 July 2016 - - 6,431,250 6,431,250
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 12)  400,000 8,828,307 - 9,228,307 
At 30 June 2017 400,000 8,828,307 6,431,250 15,659,557

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 July 2016 - - 4,649,259 4,649,259
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 12) 139,145 - - 139,145
Amortisation charge for the
  financial year (Note 5) 1,880 - 610,968 612,848

At 30 June 2017 141,025 - 5,260,227 5,401,252

Accumulated impairment loss

Impairment for the financial year (Note 10(d)) - - 433,791 433,791

Net carrying amount

At 30 June 2017 258,975 8,828,307 737,232 9,824,514

Group Customer
relationship Software

2016 database Goodwill licenses Total
RM RM RM RM

Cost

At 1 July 2015  - - 6,431,250 6,431,250 

At 30 June 2016 - - 6,431,250 6,431,250

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 July 2015 - - 4,038,290 4,038,290
Amortisation charge for the
  financial year (Note 5)  - - 610,969 610,969 

At 30 June 2016 - - 4,649,259 4,649,259

Net carrying amount

At 30 June 2016 - - 1,781,991 1,781,991
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Company

Software licenses
2017 2016

RM RM

Cost

At 1 July 2016/2015 6,431,250 6,431,250

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 July 2016/2015 4,649,259 4,038,290
Amortisation charge for the financial year (Note 5) 610,968 610,969

At 30 June 5,260,227 4,649,259

Accumulated impairment loss

Impairment for the financial year (Note 10(d)) 433,791 -

Net carrying amount

At 30 June 737,232 1,781,991

 
 Customer Relationship Database  
 Customer relationship database is acquired through business combinations in MPath Group. The customer 

relationship database is estimated to have a useful life of 13 years.

 Impairment Testing On Goodwill 
 
 For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill was allocated to the pathology services cash generating units 

(“CGU”) within MPath Group.

 The Group has assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated and determined that no impairment is 
required. The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are determined using the value-in-use approach, 
and this is derived from the present value of the future cash flows computed based on the projections of financial 
budgets approved by management covering a period of ten years. A growth rate of 0% was used to extrapolate 
the cash flow projections beyond the ten years covered by the financial budgets. The key assumptions used in the 
determination of the recoverable amounts are as follows:

2017

Gross margin 34.00%
Revenue growth rate 12.00%
Pre-tax discount rate 16.70%

 
(i) Budgeted Gross Margin
 The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average gross margins 

achieved in the year immediately before the budgeted year increased for expected efficiency improvements.
 

(ii) Revenue Growth Rate  
The forecast growth rate is based on pathology industry research.

(iii) Pre-Tax Discount Rate  
Discount rate reflect the current market assessment of the risk specific to the CGU relating to pathology services.

 The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the cash-
generating units and are based on external sources and internal sources (historical data).

 The Directors believe that there is no reasonable possible change in the above key assumptions applied that is likely 
to materially cause the respective cash-generating unit carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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 Impairment Testing on Software Licenses

 The Company conducted a review of the recoverable amount of certain plant and equipment (development servers 
and laboratory equipment) and intangible asset (software licenses) as a single cash generating unit following the 
completion of its major genome sequencing and analysis contract during the financial year. The review has led to the 
recognition of an impairment loss of RM433,791 for intangible asset, included in ‘Administration expenses’ line item 
of the statements of comprehensive income. The other results, key assumptions and the sensitivity analysis for the 
impairment assessment are disclosed in Note 10(d) to the financial statements.

12. Investment in Subsidiaries

Company
2017 2016

RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost:
At 1 June 2016/2015 2 2
Transfer from investment in joint venture 9,042,500 -
Acquired during the financial year 11,500,000 - 

At 30 June  20,542,502 2 

 
 Details of the subsidiaries, all of which are incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:

Proportion of
Country of ownership interest Principal

Name incorporation held by the Group activity
2017 2016

% %

MGRC International Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100 Dormant

MPath Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 50 Investment
holding

Subsidiaries of MPath Sdn Bhd

Clinipath (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 50 Pathological
and medical

laboratory
services

Medical Scan Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 50 Pathological
and medical

laboratory
services

Clinipath Capital Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 50 Renting out
commercial

properties

 All subsidiaries are audited by Messrs. Crowe Horwath.
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 Acquisition of Subsidiaries
 
 On 9 June 2017, the Company acquired the remaining 50% equity interest in its joint venture entity, MPath Sdn Bhd 

for a total cash consideration of RM11.5 million. Consequently, the Company holds 100% equity interest in MPath 
Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries (“MPath Group”).

 
 The cost of acquisition comprised the following: 

MPath Group
RM

Purchase consideration satisfied by cash 11,500,000

 
 The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MPath Group as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

MPath Group
RM

Property, plant and
  equipment 12,955,737
Intangible asset 260,855
Deferred tax asset 624
Non-current financial asset 268,275
Trade and other receivables 6,206,063
Inventories 1,125,982
Tax recoverable 243,342
Cash and bank balances  1,295,142

    22,356,020 

Trade and other payables 2,595,505
Loans and borrowings 4,953,604
Deferred tax liabilities  635,218

 8,184,327

Fair value of identifiable net assets 14,171,693
Goodwill on consolidation  8,828,307

23,000,000
Carrying amount of the equity interests
  previously owned at the date of acquisition (10,009,341)
Gain on remeasurement (1,490,659)
Less: Fair value of the equity interests
            previously owned at acquisition date   (11,500,000)
Total cost of acquisition     11,500,000 
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 Provisional Accounting of Acquisition

 The fair value adjustments and the goodwill on acquisition in relation to the acquisition of MPath Group are provisional 
as the Group will undertake a purchase price allocation exercise to determine the identifiable assets and liabilities, 
and to identify and measure intangible assets, if any. The goodwill on acquisition is now provisionally estimated to be 
RM8,828,307. Goodwill arising from this acquisition and any identified intangible assets will be adjusted accordingly 
on a retrospective basis when the purchase price allocation is finalised.

 
 The net cash flow on acquisition was as follows:

MPath Group
RM

Purchase consideration satisfied by cash 11,500,000
Cash and cash equivalent of a subsidiary acquired 107,354 

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries 11,607,354

 
 Impact of the Acquisition on the Results of the Group

 Since the date of acquisition, MPath Group has contributed revenue of RM1,282,791 and profit after taxation of 
RM103,907 to the Group.

13. Non-Current Financial Asset

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Trade receivable carried at fair value 268,275 - - -

 
 The carrying amount of the non-current financial asset at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 26 of the financial 

statements.

 The ageing analysis of trade receivable’s non-current portion is disclosed in Note 16(a) to the financial statements.
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14. Deferred Tax

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

At 1 June 2016/ 2015 - - - -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (634,594) - - -
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 8)  (27,227) - - - 
At 30 June (661,821) - - -

 
 Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax assets 624 - - -
Deferred tax liabilities  (662,445) - - - 

(661,821) - - -

 
 The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year are as follows:

 Group

 Deferred tax assets:

Plant and Unutilised
equipment tax losses Provision Total

RM RM RM RM

At 1 July 2015 101,974 179,071 - 281,045
Recognised during the year (5,012) 5,012 - -

At 30 June 2016/1 July 2016 96,962 184,083 - 281,045
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries - - 183,329 183,329
Recognised during the year - - (27,227) (27,227)

At 30 June 2017 96,962 184,083 156,102 437,147
Set-off against deferred tax liabilities  (436,523)

624

 
 Company

 Deferred tax assets:

Plant and Unutilised
equipment tax losses Total

RM RM RM

At 1 July 2015 101,974 179,071 281,045
Recognised during the year  (5,012) 5,012 - 
At 30 June 2016/1 July 2016 96,962 184,083 281,045
Recognised during the year  - - - 
At 30 June 2017 96,962 184,083 281,045
Set-off against deferred tax liabilities (281,045) 

-
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 Group 
    
 Deferred tax liabilities:
     

Customer Property,
Intangible relationship plant and

asset database equipment Others Total
RM RM RM RM RM

At 1 July 2015 281,045 - - - 281,045
Recognised during the year - - - - -
At 30 June 2016/1 July 2016 281,045 - - - 281,045
Arising on acquisition
  of subsidiaries - 64,741 296,834 456,348 817,923
Recognised during the year - - - - -
At 30 June 2017 281,045 64,741 296,834 456,348 1,098,968

Set-off against deferred tax assets  (436,523)

662,445

 
 Company
     
 Deferred tax liabilities:  
   

Intangible
asset

RM

At 1 July 2015 281,045
Recognised during the year - 
At 30 June 2016/1 July 2016 281,045
Recognised during the year - 
At 30 June 2017 281,045
Set-off against deferred tax assets (281,045)

-

      
 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:
  

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Accelerated depreciation over capital allowances 895,450 1,393,208
Unabsorbed capital allowances 789,529 -
Unutilised tax losses     6,710,675 6,710,675 

8,395,654 8,103,883

 
 The unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances are available indefinitely for offsetting against future 

taxable profits in its post-exempt year subject to no substantial change in shareholdings of the Group and the 
Company under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and the guidelines issued by the tax authority.
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15. Inventories  
  
 Group 
   

2017 2016
RM RM

Cost
Lab consumables 2,003,076 1,169,308

 
 During the year, the amount of inventory recognised as an expense of the Group was RM1,704,743 (2016 - 

RM1,173,604).

 Company  
  

2017 2016
RM RM

Cost
Lab consumables 877,093 1,169,308

 During the year, the amount of inventory recognised as an expense of the Company was RM953,877 (2016 - 
RM1,173,604).

16. Trade and Other Receivables 
   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade receivables
  Third parties 9,615,409 550,864 3,737,862 550,864
  Unbilled receivables  87,188 2,728,000 87,188 2,728,000 

 9,702,597 3,278,864 3,825,050 3,278,864 

Other receivables
  Amount due from a subsidiary - - 42,318 33,711
  Advance payments 32,047 456,540 32,047 456,540
  Refundable deposits 436,245 131,040 134,647 131,040
  Others 150,761 127,165 23,238 127,165
Less: Allowance for impairment
            Amount due from a
               subsidiary  - - (42,318) (33,711)

619,053 714,745 189,932 714,745

Total trade and other
  receivables, net 10,321,650 3,993,609 4,014,982 3,993,609 

Total trade and other receivables 10,321,650 3,993,609 4,014,982 3,993,609
Add: Cash and bank balances
           (Note 18) 1,880,165 4,047,326 585,021 4,047,324
Less : Advance payments  (32,047) (456,540) (32,047) (456,540)

Total loans and receivables 12,169,768 7,584,395 4,567,956 7,584,393
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(a) Trade Receivables
    

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 90 to 360 days (2016 - 90 to 360 days) terms. 
They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

 Ageing Analysis of Total Trade Receivables   

 The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows:  

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Not past due 5,154,148 3,261,798 3,807,984 3,261,798

Past due
- less than 3 months 2,870,039 - - -
- 3 to 6 months 837,199 - - -
- over 6 months 1,355,750 17,066 17,066 17,066

10,217,136 3,278,864 3,825,050 3,278,864

Impaired (246,264) - - - 

9,970,872 3,278,864 3,825,050 3,278,864

  
 Receivables That Are Neither Past Due Nor Impaired 

 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records 
with the Group.

 Receivables That Are Past Due But Not Impaired

 The Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these trade receivables. They are 
substantially companies with good collection track record and no recent history of default.

 Receivables That Are Impaired 

 At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables that are individually impaired were those in significant 
financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or 
credit enhancement.

 The movement of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Individually
impaired

2017 2016
RM RM

Group

Trade receivables: Nominal value 246,264 -
Less: Allowance for impairment  (246,264) - 

- -
Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 July 2016/2015 - -
Charge for the financial year (Note 5) 40,982 -
Reversal of impairment loss (Note 5) (2,602)
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries  207,884 - 

At 30 June 246,264 -
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(b) Other Receivables 
 
 Other Receivables That Are Impaired
  
 During the financial year, the Company provided an allowance of RM8,607 (2016 - RM8,118). These mainly 

relate to balances due from a subsidiary which have been long outstanding.

 The Company’s other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

2017 2016
RM RM

Company
Other receivables: Nominal value 42,318 33,711
Less: Allowance for impairment  (42,318) (33,711)

- -

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 July 2016/2015 33,711 25,593
Charge for the financial year (Note 5)  8,607 8,118 

At 30 June 2017 42,318 33,711

 
(c) Subsidiary Balance 

 
 Amount due from a wholly owned subsidiary is unsecured, non-interest bearing and is repayable on demand.

17. Other Current Assets 
   

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Prepaid operating expenses 22,854 19,445

18. Cash and Bank Balances 
   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Cash and bank balances 812,730 97,326 30,021 97,324
Deposits with licensed banks  1,067,435 3,950,000 555,000 3,950,000 

1,880,165 4,047,326 585,021 4,047,324
Bank overdraft (1,402,496) - - -
Less: Deposit pledged and with original
             maturity period of more than
               3 months  (12,435) - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 465,234 4,047,326 585,021 4,047,324

 
 Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for 

varying periods of between one to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates. The weighted average effective interest rates of short-
term deposits and average maturities of deposits as at the end of the financial year are 3.00% (2016 - 3.15%) and 
30 days (2016 - 30 days). The other deposit amounting to RM12,435 (2016 - Nil) is pledged to a licensed bank for 
perfomance guarantees issued on behalf of a subsidiary. The effective interest rate and maturity period of the said 
deposit are 3.15% per annum (2016 - Nil) and 12 months (2016 - Nil) respectively.
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19. Loans and Borrowings  

Group

2017 2016
RM RM

Current

Secured:

Hire purchase payables 170,722 -
Bank overdraft 1,402,496 -
Term loans 281,040 - 

1,854,258 -

Non-current

Secured:

Hire purchase payables 89,673 -
Term loans 3,009,673 -

3,099,346 -
Total loans and borrowings 4,953,604 -

 
 Bank Overdraft 
 
 The bank overdraft is secured by a fixed charge over certain properties belonging to a subsidiary as disclosed in 

Note 10(b) to the financial statements.

 The bank overdraft of the Group at the end of the reporting period bore floating interest rates of 6.85% (2016 - Nil) 
per annum.

 Hire Purchase Payables 
 
 Details of the hire purchase payables outstanding at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group

2017 2016
RM RM

Minimum hire purchase payments:
- not later than one year 182,531 -
- later than one year but not later than five years 93,810 - 

276,341 -
Less: Future finance charges  15,946 - 

Present value of hire purchase payables  260,395 - 

Current:
- Not later than one year 170,722 -

Non-current:
- later than one year but not later than five years  89,673 - 

 260,395 -

 The hire purchase payables bore effective interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 4.31% (2016 - Nil) per annum at the 
end of the reporting period. The interest rates are fixed at the inception of the hire purchase arrangements.
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 Term loans

 Details of the term loans oustanding at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group

2017 2016
RM RM

Current
- not later than one year 281,040 -

Non-current
- later than one year and not later
  than two years 293,595 -
- later than two years and not later than five years 920,132 -
- later than five years 1,795,946 -

3,009,673 - 

3,290,713 - 

 The term loans are secured as follows:
 (a)  by a first party legal charge over the properties belonging to a subsidiary  
 (b)  by corporate guarantees issued by MPath Sdn Bhd and Clinipath (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd 

 The interest rate profile of the term loans is summarised below:

Group

Effective 2017 2016
interest rates RM RM

%

Floating rate term loans 4.40 - 4.60 3,290,713 -

20. Trade and Other Payables

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade payables
Third parties 1,700,921 32,749 204,871 32,749

Other payables
Other payable 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 -
Accrued operating expenses 1,619,250 671,643 629,663 656,497
Advances from a customer  57,686 1,371,099 57,686 1,371,099 

7,877,857 2,075,491 5,392,220 2,060,345

 
(a) Trade Payables
    

The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 1 to 90 days (2016 - 1 to 90 days).

(b) Other Payable

 The other payable amounting to RM4.5 million (2016 - Nil) is due to the former joint owner of the joint venture 
entity. The amount owing is pending financing via a term loan arrangement which was only completed subsequent 
to the end of the reporting period.
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(c) Related Party Balance
    
 Included in accrued operating expenses is amount due to the ultimate holding company of RM96,000  

(2016 - Nil).

 The amount due to the ultimate holding company arises from ordinary course of business and is unsecured, 
non-interest bearing and the credit term granted is 90 days.

(d) Advances From a Customer

 The advances will be recognised as revenue when the services are rendered by the Company.

21. Share Capital

Number of Ordinary Shares Amount

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM

Group/Company

Authorised
At 1 July/30 June N/A 250,000,000 N/A 25,000,000

N/A - Not applicable due to the adoption of the Companies Act 2016 as disclosed in item (b) below.

Issued and fully paid
At 1 July 2016/2015 94,100,480 94,100,480 9,410,048 9,410,048
Issuance of new shares 9,410,000 - 941,000 - 

At 30 June 103,510,480 94,100,480 10,351,048 9,410,048 

 
(a) The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 

ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company’s 
residual assets.

 
(b) On 31 January 2017, the concepts of authorised share capital and par value of share capital were abolished in 

accordance with the Companies Act 2016. There is no impact on the numbers of ordinary shares as a result of 
this transition.

 Private Placement

 On 17 October 2016, the Board of Directors of MGRC announced that the Company proposes to undertake the 
private placement of new ordinary shares of RM0.10 each in MGRC, representing not more than ten percent (10%) 
of the issued and paid-up share capital of MGRC (“Private Placement”).

 The Private Placement has been completed on 8 November 2016 following the listing of and quotation for 9,410,000 
new MGRC Shares on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities at an issue price of RM0.48 which raised a total proceeds 
of approximately RM4.52 million.

22. Reserves

Group Company

Note 2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-distributable
  Share premium (a) 18,138,337 14,755,041 18,138,337 14,755,041
  Other reserve (b) (1,682,091) (1,682,091) - - 

16,456,246 13,072,950 18,138,337 14,755,041

  Accumulated losses  (2,502,633) (3,091,933) (6,730,986) (5,619,831)

13,953,613 9,981,017 11,407,351 9,135,210
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(a) Share Premium    

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 July 2016/2015 14,755,041 14,755,041
Arising from issuance of new shares 3,575,800 -
Expenses pursuant to issuance of new shares (192,504) -

At 30 June 18,138,337 14,755,041

  
 The Company has adopted the transitional provision set out in Section 618(3) of the Companies Act 2016 

(“Act”) where the sum standing to the credit of the share premium may be utilised within twenty four (24) months 
from the commencement date of 31 January 2017 in the manner as allowed for under the Act. Therefore, the 
Group and the Company have not consolidated the share premium into share capital until the expiry of the 
transitional period.

(b) Other Reserve     

 Other reserve represents premium paid by MPath Sdn Bhd arising from acquisition of non-controlling interests 
in prior financial years.

23. Related Party Disclosures    

(a) Identities of Related Parties    
 

 Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or the Company has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control or jointly control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial 
and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and the party are subject to 
common control.

 In addition to the information detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group has related party 
relationships with its directors, ultimate holding company, key management personnel and entities within the 
same group of companies.

(b) Significant Related Party Transactions and Balances  
 

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Management fee charged by
  ultimate holding company 1,141,000 882,750 1,141,000 882,750
Other fees charged by
  immediate holding company
  - Exclusive license fees - - - -
  - System maintenance
      cost - - - -
Advance to a subsidiary - - 8,607 8,118
Dividend income received
  from a joint venture - - - (220,500)
Sales to a subsidiary - - 47,453 56,478

  
 The Directors are of the opinion that all the above transactions and arrangements had been entered into in the 

normal course of business.

 The outstanding balances of the related parties (including the allowance for impairment loss made) together 
with their terms and conditions are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements.

 Exclusive License Fees and System Maintenance Cost 

 Synamatix Sdn Bhd has agreed not to charge the annual exclusive license fees and system maintenance fees 
for the current financial year.
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(c) Compensation of Key Management Personnel   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Short-term employee benefits 1,914,025 2,052,855 1,704,025 2,052,855
Defined contribution plan 94,392 67,376 69,192 67,376
Social security contributions  2,969 624 2,210 624 

2,011,386 2,120,855 1,775,427 2,120,855

Included in the total key management
  personnel are:

Directors’ remuneration (Note 7) 1,126,000 1,226,000 1,126,000 1,226,000

24. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.

 The Board of Directors reviews and agrees on policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are 
executed by the Executive Director and Managing Director. The audit committee provides independent oversight to 
the effectiveness of the risk management process.

 It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial years, the Group’s policy that no derivatives shall 
be undertaken except for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. The Group and the 
Company do not apply hedge accounting.

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

 
(a) Credit Risk

 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on 
its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade receivables. 
For other financial assets (including cash and bank balances), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk 
by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

 The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased 
credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s 
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to 
bad debts is not significant. For transactions that do not occur in Malaysia, the Group does not offer credit terms 
without the approval of the Managing Director.

 
 Exposure to Credit Risk

 At the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of 
each class of financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position of the Group and of the Company 
after deducting any allowance for impairment losses.

 Credit Risk Concentration Profile

 The Group does not have any major concentration of credit risk related to any individual customer or counterparty.
 

(b) Liquidity Risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations 
due to shortage of funds. The Group and the Company actively manages its debt maturity profile, operating 
cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that all repayment and funding needs are met. As part 
of its overall prudent liquidity management, the Group and  the Company maintain sufficient levels of cash or 
cash convertible investments to meet its working capital requirements.
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 Maturity Analysis 
     
 The following table sets out the maturity profile of the financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based 

on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if 
floating, based on the rates at the end of the reporting period):

Contractual Contractual
Interest Carrying Undiscounted Within 1 - 5 Over 5

Rate Amount Cash Flows 1 Year Years Years
The Group % RM RM RM RM RM

2017

Financial liabilities

Trade and other
  payables - 7,877,857 7,877,857 7,877,857 - -
Hire purchase
  payables 4.00 - 4.31 260,395 276,341 182,531 93,810 -
Term loans 4.40 - 4.60 3,290,713 4,167,319 429,600 1,718,400 2,019,319
Bank overdraft 6.85 1,402,496 1,402,496 1,402,496 - -

12,831,461 13,724,013 9,892,484 1,812,210 2,019,319

2016

Financial liabilities

Trade and other
  payables - 2,075,491 2,075,491 2,075,491 - -

The Company

2017

Financial liabilities

Trade and other
  payables - 5,392,220 5,392,220 5,392,220 - -

The Company

2016

Financial liabilities

Trade and other
  payables - 2,060,345 2,060,345 2,060,345 - -
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(c) Interest Rate Risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises mainly from long-term 
borrowings with variable rates. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available and 
by maintaining a balanced portfolio mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings.

 The Group’s deposits with licensed banks and fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. Therefore, 
they are not subject to interest rate risk as defined in MFRS 7 since neither the carrying amount nor the future 
cash flows will fluctuate because of a change in market interest rates.

 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk based on the carrying amounts of the financial instruments at the end 
of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 24(b) to the financial statements.

 Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis

 Any reasonably possible change in the interest rates of floating rate term loans at the end of the reporting period 
does not have material impact on the profit after taxation and other comprehensive income of the Group and 
hence, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

 
(d) Foreign Currency Risk
  
 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

 The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the Group. The foreign currencies in which these transactions are 
denominated are mainly United States Dollars and Euro.

 Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis

 Any reasonably possible change in the foreign currency exchange rates at the end of the reporting period 
against the functional currency of the Group does not have material impact on the profit/loss after taxation and 
other comprehensive income of the Group and hence, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

 
25. Classification of Financial Instruments 
    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Financial assets

Loans and receivables financial assets
Non-current financial asset 268,275 - - -
Trade and other receivables 10,321,650 3,993,609 4,014,982 3,993,609
Cash and bank balances 1,880,165 4,047,326 585,021 4,047,324

12,470,090 8,040,935 4,600,003 8,040,933

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 4,953,604 - - -
Trade and other payables  7,877,857 2,075,491 5,392,220 2,060,345 

 12,831,461 2,075,491 5,392,220 2,060,345 
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26. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
    
 The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company which are maturing 

within the next 12 months approximated their carrying amounts due to the relatively short-term maturity of the 
financial instruments or repayable on demand terms.

 Fair Value of Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value
    
 The following table sets out the fair value profile of financial instruments that are carried at fair value at the end of 

the reporting period:

 The Group
     

Fair Value Of Financial
Instruments Carried At Fair Value Total Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Amount
RM RM RM RM RM

2017
Financial asset

Trade receivable (non-current) - - 268,275 268,275 294,930

2016
Financial asset

Trade receivable (non-current) - - - - -

 
 The fair value of trade receivable (non-current) is determined using cash flow projections discounted at a borrowing 

rate of 4.85% (2016 - Nil). The discount rate equal to the current market interest rate.

 There were no financial instruments carried at fair values in the statement of financial position of the Company.
 
 Fair Value of Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value

 The fair value of the Group’s term loan that carry floating interest rate approximated its carrying amount as it is 
repriced to market interest rate on or near the reporting date.

 The fair values of hire purchase payables that carry fixed interest rates approximated their carrying amounts as the 
impact of discounting is not material. The fair values are determined by discounting the relevant cash flows using 
current market interest rates for similar instruments ranging from 4.00% to 4.31% (2016 - Nil) and the fair values are 
within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

27. Capital Management 

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure it maintains a healthy level of financial 
standing in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. The Group manages its own capital 
structure and adapts to changes in light of prevailing economic conditions.

 The Group optimises the overall capital management performance through improvement in the cash flows. The 
Group’s cash flows management focuses on receivables and payables and obtaining funding from its immediate 
holding company to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due. No major changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial year ended 30 June 
2017 and 2016.
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 The debt-to-equity ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

The Group
2017

Hire purchase payables 260,395
Term loans 3,290,713
Bank overdraft 1,402,496 

4,953,604
Less: Cash and bank balances 1,880,165 

Net debt 3,073,439

Total equity 24,304,661

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.13

 
28. Operating Lease Arrangement

 The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating lease agreements for the rental of building. These leases 
have average lives of between 1 to 3 years with renewal options included in the contracts.

 The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for as at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Future minimum rental payments:
Not later than 1 year 1,202,250 248,694 221,960 248,694
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 657,834 - 81,424 -
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 22,750 - - -

Share of joint venture’s operating lease
  commitment:
Not later than 1 year - 396,148 - -
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years - 54,850 - -
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years  - 14,000 - - 

1,882,834 713,692 303,384 248,694

29. Segment Information

 Information about operating segments has not been reported separately as the Group’s revenue, profit or loss, 
assets and liabilities are mainly confined to a single operating segment which is the provision of laboratory services 
relating to genome sequencing and analysis, genetic screening services and pathology services.

 
 Information About a Major Customer

 Revenue from one major customer amounts to RM3,831,000 (2016 - RM8,278,000) arising from genome sequencing 
and analysis services.

30. Significant Event During the Financial Year 
   
 On 9 June 2017, the Company acquired 49,000 ordinary shares representing the remaining 50% equity interest of 

MPath Sdn Bhd (“MPath”) and 8,993,500 redeemable convertible preference shares (“RCPS”) of MPath, representing 
the remaining 50% of MPath RCPS from the former joint owner, Ajmaks Sdn Bhd for a total purchase consideration 
of RM11.5 million. Consequently, MPath Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries became wholly owned subsidiaries of the 
Company.

 

113



31. Supplementary Information - Breakdown of Retained Profits Into Realised and Unrealised

 The breakdown of the retained profits of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2017 into realised and unrealised 
profits is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad dated 25 March 
2010 and prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised 
Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, 
as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Total accumulated losses:
  Realised (4,050,381) (5,596,766) (6,730,986) (5,619,831)
  Unrealised 1,490,659 - - -
Total retained profit/(accumulated losses)
  of subsidiaries:
    Realised 46,237 (38,211) - -
    Unrealised 10,852 - - -
Total share of retained profit
  from a joint venture:
    Realised - 2,723,779 - -
    Unrealised - (180,735) - - 
Total accumulated losses as
  per financial statements (2,502,633) (3,091,933) (6,730,986) (5,619,831)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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LIST OF MATERIAL PROPERTIES

A.  GALERI EMPIRE, KLANG (“the Klang Properties”)

Address: Lot 19 Galeri Empire, Jalan Empayar, Off Persiaran Sultan Ibrahim / KU1, 41150 Klang, Selangor
Description: Building (semi-detached)
Use: Offices
Tenure: Freehold
Approximate age of building: 8 years
Square footage: 8,800
Date of acquisition / sale and purchase agreement: 18 August 2014

Address: Lot 21 Galeri Empire, Jalan Empayar, Off Persiaran Sultan Ibrahim / KU1, 41150, Klang, Selangor
Description: Building (semi-detached)
Use: Offices
Tenure: Freehold
Approximate age of building: 8 years
Square footage: 8,300
Date of acquisition / sale and purchase agreement: 1 November 2007 

Address: Lot 23 Galeri Empire, Jalan Empayar, Off Persiaran Sultan Ibrahim / KU1, 41150, Klang, Selangor
Description: Building (detached)
Use: Offices
Tenure: Freehold
Approximate age of building: 8 years
Square footage: 10,900
Date of acquisition / sale and purchase agreement: 1 November 2007 

Total net book value of the Klang Properties: RM9,545,104

B.  PLAZA TANJUNG ARU, KOTA KINABALU (“the Kota Kinabalu Properties”)

Address: Units C-2-6, C-2-7 and C-2-8, 2nd Floor, Block C, Plaza Tanjung Aru, 88100 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah
Description: Business suites
Use: Offices
Tenure: Leasehold
Date of expiry of lease: 31 December 2100 
Approximate age of building: 12 years
Square footage: 4,400
Date of acquisition / sale and purchase agreement: 12 March 2004, 19 November 2003 and 19 November 2003 

Total net book value of the Kota Kinabalu Properties: RM1,771,600
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 29 SEPTEMBER 2017

Issued and Paid-Up Share Capital  : 103,510,480 Ordinary Shares 
Class of Share                                :  Ordinary Shares 
Voting Right                                    : One (1) vote per Ordinary Share
 

List of Substantial Shareholders as Per the Register of Substantial Shareholders 

No. of Shares Held
Name of Substantial Shareholders Direct % Indirect %

Synamatix Sdn Bhd 60,516,070 58.46 - -

Neuramatix Sdn Bhd 4,813,450 4.65   60,516,070 (1) 58.46

Encipta Ltd 851,679 0.82    65,329,520 (2) 63.11

Continuum Capital Sdn Bhd - - 66,181,199 (3) 63.94

Pulau Tiga Ventures Sdn Bhd - - 66,181,199 (3) 63.94

Khazanah Nasional Berhad - - 66,181,199 (3) 63.94

Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 80,000 0.08 65,357,520 (4) 63.14

Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 100,000 0.10 65,357,520 (5) 63.14

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Koh Kin Lip, JP 5,200,000 5.02 - -

Note:

(1)  Deemed interested under Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of its substantial interest in Synamatix  
Sdn Bhd.

(2)  Deemed interested through Synamatix Sdn Bhd and Neuramatix Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies 
Act 2016. 

(3)  Deemed interested under Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of its substantial interest in Encipta Ltd. 
Encipta Ltd is 100% owned by Continuum Capital Sdn Bhd, of which Pulau Tiga Ventures Sdn Bhd has a 100% 
direct equity interest. Pulau Tiga Ventures Sdn Bhd is 100% owned by Khazanah Nasional Berhad.

(4)  Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus is deemed interested through Synamatix Sdn Bhd and Neuramatix Sdn 
Bhd. The indirect interest includes shares held by his son, Adlan Hercus, pursuant to Section 59 of the Companies 
Act 2016.

(5)  Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid is deemed interested through Synamatix Sdn Bhd and Neuramatix Sdn Bhd. 
The indirect interest includes shares held by her son, Adlan Hercus, pursuant to Section 59 of the Companies Act 
2016.
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List of Directors’ Shareholdings as Per the Register of Directors’ Shareholding 

No. of Shares Held
Name of Directors Direct % Indirect %

Robert George Hercus @ Abdul Karim Hercus 80,000 0.08 65,357,520 (1) 63.14

Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid 100,000 0.10 65,357,520 (2) 63.14

Tan Sri Datuk (Dr) Rafiah binti Salim 100,000 0.10 - -

Dato’ Dr Norraesah binti Haji Mohamad 140,000 0.14 - -

Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali - - - -

Toh Seng Thong - - - -

Note:

(1) Deemed interested through Synamatix Sdn Bhd and Neuramatix Sdn Bhd. The indirect interest includes shares held 
by his son, Adlan Hercus, pursuant to Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016.

(2) Deemed interested through Synamatix Sdn Bhd and Neuramatix Sdn Bhd. The indirect interest includes shares held 
by her son, Adlan Hercus, pursuant to Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016.

Distribution of Shareholdings as Per the Record of Depositors 

No. of % of No. of % of Issued
Shareholders Shareholders Shares Held Share

Shareholders Capital

1 – 99 11 2.74 449 0.00

100 – 1,000 88 21.89 63,450 0.06

1,001 – 10,000 153 38.06 829,100 0.80

10,001 – 100,000 107 26.62 4,261,900 4.12

100,001 – 5,175,523 (less than 5% of 
issued share capital)

42 10.45 37,839,511 36.56

5,175,524 (5% of issued share capital) 
and above

1 0.25 60,516,070 58.46

Total 402 100.00 103,510,480 100.00
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List of Thirty (30) Largest Securities Account Holders as Per the Record of Depositors 

No. of % of Issued
No. Name of Shareholders Shares Held  Share Capital

1. Synamatix Sdn Bhd 60,516,070 58.46

2. Neuramatix Sdn Bhd 4,813,450 4.65

3. Mohd Rafael bin Mohd Shamsudin 3,299,500 3.19

4. Nor Azah binti Adnan 3,296,400 3.18

5. Zharif Omar bin Mohamed Radzif 3,014,100 2.91

6. Koh Kin Lip 3,000,000 2.90

7. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
- CIMB Bank For Koh Kin Lip 2,200,000 2.13

8. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account for Mah Siew Hoe 1,500,000 1.45

9. Inertia AIF Sdn Bhd 1,334,882 1.29

10. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
- CIMB Bank For Loh Chai Keong 1,210,000 1.17

11. Mah Siew Hoe 1,200,000 1.16

12. Mohamed Roslan bin Mohamed Shamsudin 1,200,000 1.16

13. CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt for Fortress Capital Asset Management (M) Sdn Bhd 1,000,000 0.97

14. Shahril bin Shamsuddin 1,000,000 0.97

15. Teong Teck Lean 1,000,000 0.97

16. Encipta Ltd 851,679 0.82

17. Mohamed Radzif bin Mohamed Shamsudin 768,400 0.74

18. Nor Azizan binti Adnan 693,000 0.67

19. Lim Kian Wat 616,900 0.60

20. Maznah binti Ali 530,000 0.51

21. Noraziah binti Adnan 510,000 0.49

22. S Elias bin Abd. Rahman Alhabshi 500,000 0.48
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List of Thirty (30) Largest Securities Account Holders as Per the Record of Depositors 

No. of % of Issued
No. Name of Shareholders Shares Held Share Capital

23. A Aziz bin Mohd Isa 463,000 0.45

24. Lai Thiam Poh 438,500 0.42

25. Kamarudin bin Meranun 400,000 0.39

26. Azlan Shairi bin Asidin 368,000 0.36

27. Rupee Enterprise Sdn Bhd 340,000 0.33

28. Che Onn bin Ismail 260,000 0.25

29. Razali bin Manap 250,000 0.24

30. Ho Ah Chooy @ Ho Hung Yin 164,000 0.16
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING

MALAYSIAN GENOMICS RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD
(Company No. 652790-V)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Westside Room 
1, Level 8, St Giles Boulevard-Premier Hotel, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 
22 November 2017 at 9.30 am for the following purposes:  

AGENDA

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 
2017 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 1

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. (Resolution 1)

3. To re-elect the following Directors who shall retire by rotation pursuant to Article 101 
of the Company’s Articles of Association:

(a) Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid; and (Resolution 2)
(b) Encik Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali. (Resolution 3)

4. To re-appoint Messrs. Crowe Horwath as Auditors of the Company and to authorise 
the Directors to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 4)

5. As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit,  to pass the following resolutions with or without 
modifications:

Ordinary Resolution 1 
Authority to issue and allot shares pursuant to the Companies Act 2016

That subject always to the Companies Act 2016, Articles of Association of the 
Company and approvals from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and any other 
governmental / regulatory bodies, where such approval is required, authority be and 
is hereby given to the Directors pursuant to the Companies Act 2016 to issue and 
allot not more than ten percent (10%) of the issued capital of the Company at any 
time upon any such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may 
in their absolute discretion deem fit or in pursuance of offers, agreements, options 
or other instruments to be made or granted by the Directors while this approval is 
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
and that the Directors be and are hereby further authorised to make or grant offers, 
agreements, options or other instruments which would or might require shares to be 
issued after the expiration of the approval hereof. (Resolution 5)

124



Ordinary Resolution 2 
Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related 
Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature

That subject to the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”), the Memorandum and Articles 
of Association of the Company and Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad ACE Market 
Listing Requirements, approval be and is hereby given to the Company to enter into 
any category of recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature 
as stated in Section 2.3 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 16 October 2017, 
which are necessary for the Company’s day-to-day operations subject further to the 
following:

(a)  the transactions are in the ordinary course of business and are on normal 
commercial terms which are not more favourable to the related parties than 
those available to the public and on terms not to the detriment of the minority 
shareholders; and

(b)  disclosure is made in the annual report of the breakdown of the aggregate 
value of transactions conducted pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate during 
the financial year based on the following information:

(i)  the types of recurrent related party transactions made; and

(ii)  the names of the related parties involved in each type of the recurrent 
related party transactions made and their relationship with the Company.

AND that such approval shall continue to be in force until:

(i)  the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the 
Company following the forthcoming AGM at which such Proposed 
Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate was passed, at which time it will 
lapse, unless by a resolution passed at an AGM whereby the authority is 
renewed;

(ii)  the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company 
subsequent to the date it is required to be held pursuant to the provisions 
of the Act;  or

(iii)  revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in an AGM or 
Extraordinary General Meeting, 

whichever is the earlier; and

That the Directors and / or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete 
and do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be 
required) to give effect to the transactions contemplated and / or authorised by this 
ordinary resolution. (Resolution 6)

6. To transact any other ordinary business of which due notice shall have been given.

  
  
By Order of the Board  
  
CHUA SIEW CHUAN (MAICSA 0777689)
MAK CHOOI PENG   (MAICSA 7017931)
Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur
16 October 2017
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (cont’d)

Explanatory Notes: 

1. Item 1 of the Agenda

 The Agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 does 
not require a formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this Agenda item is 
not put forward for voting.

2. Proposed Ordinary Resolution 1

 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 1, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to issue and allot shares 
at any time to such persons in their absolute discretion without convening a general meeting provided that the 
aggregate number of the shares issued does not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the 
time being (hereinafter referred to as the “General Mandate”). 

 The General Mandate will enable the Directors to take swift action for allotment of shares for any possible fund 
raising activities, including but not limited to further placing of shares, for the purpose of funding future investment 
project(s), working capital and / or acquisition(s) and to avoid delay and cost in convening general meetings to 
approve such issue of shares.

 On 4 November 2016, the Company issued 9,410,000 new ordinary shares by way of private placement to investors 
which raised a total gross proceed of RM4,516,800.00 under the provision of the general mandate granted to the 
Directors at the Twelfth Annual General Meeting held on 21 November 2016. 

4.  Proposed Ordinary Resolution 2

 The proposed adoption of the Ordinary Resolution 2 is intended to renew the shareholders’ mandate granted by the 
shareholders of the Company at the Twelfth Annual General Meeting held on 21 November 2016. The Proposed 
Renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate will enable the Company to enter into recurrent related party 
transactions to facilitate transactions in the normal course of business of the Company which are transacted from 
time to time with the specified classes of related parties, provided that they are carried out on an arm’s length basis 
and on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the shareholders on terms not more favourable to the 
related parties than those generally available to the public and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders 
of the Company.

Notes:

1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 13 November 
2017 (“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.    

2. A member entitled to attend, vote and speak at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to 
attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction 
as to the qualifications of the proxy. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be 
invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. A proxy appointed 
to attend and vote at the Meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting. 

3. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company 
for multiple beneficial owners in one (1) securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of 
proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositors) Act, 1991, it 
may appoint up to two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company 
standing to the credit of the said securities account.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in such form as the Directors may from time to time prescribe 
under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, either 
under seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or 
a notarially certified copy of that power or authority shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at  
Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur 
not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in 
the instrument proposes to vote, and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.
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PROXY

FORM OF PROXY
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MALAYSIAN GENOMICS RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD
(Company No. 652790-V)

 FORM OF PROXY

No. of Shares Held CDS Account No. Shareholder’s Contact No.

I / We,  .................................................................................................  NRIC No.  .....................................................................................................
 (FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITALS)

of .................................................................................................................................................................................................  being a member(s)
 (FULL ADDRESS)

of MALAYSIAN GENOMICS RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD, hereby appoint  ........................................................................................................
 (FULL NAME)

(NRIC No.  . .....................................................  ) of  ....................................................................................................................................................
 (FULL ADDRESS)

or failing him / her,  ......................................................................................................  (NRIC No.  ...........................................................................)
 (FULL NAME)

.....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
 (FULL ADDRESS)

or failing him / her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my / our proxy to vote for me / us and on my / our behalf at the Thirteenth Annual General 
Meeting of the Company to be held at Westside Room 1, Level 8, St Giles Boulevard-Premier Hotel, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 
Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 22 November 2017 at 9.30 am or at any adjournment thereof. 

Please indicate an “X” in the space provided below on how you wish your votes to be cast. If no specific instruction as to voting is given, the Proxy 
will vote or abstain from voting at his / her discretion.

RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

Resolution 1 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 30 June 
2017.

Resolution 2 To re-elect Datuk Munirah binti Haji Abdul Hamid as a Director.

Resolution 3 To re-elect Encik Ahmad Fauzi bin Ali as a Director.

Resolution 4 To re-appoint Messrs. Crowe Horwath as Auditors of the Company and to 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Resolution 5 Special Business

Ordinary Resolution 1
- Authority to issue and allot shares pursuant to the Companies Act 2016.

Resolution 6 Special Business

Ordinary Resolution 2
- Proposed renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related 

Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading nature.

Signed on this  .............. day of  .........................  2017  .....................................................................................................
 Signature of Member(s) / Common Seal
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MALAYSIAN GENOMICS RESOURCE CENTRE BERHAD
(COMPANY NO. 652790-V)

Level 7, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela

Pusat Bandar Damansara
Damansara Heights

50490 Kuala Lumpur.

STAMP

Notes:

1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 13 November 2017  
(“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.    

2. A member entitled to attend, vote and speak at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead. 
A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualifications of the proxy. Where a member 
appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented 
by each proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the Meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting. 

3. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one (1) securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee 
may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositors) Act, 1991, it may appoint up to two (2) 
proxies in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in such form as the Directors may from time to time prescribe under the hand of the 
appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an officer or 
attorney duly authorised.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy 
of that power or authority shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat 
Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned 
meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote, and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid. 

130


	cvr_bcvr copy
	MGRC AR2017.pdf-3MB

